AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

TOWN OF COVENTRY

AND

UNITED PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION/ CONNECTICUT ORGANIZATION FOR PUBLIC SAFETY DMSION ("UPSEU/COPS")

(Coventry Police Department)

July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2022

CONTENTS

| ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION | |
|---|--|
| ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY | |
| ARTICLE 3 - GENERAL 4 | |
| ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS6 | |
| ARTICLE 5 - HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, AND HOLIDAY PAY7 | |
| ARTICLE 6 - HOLIDAYS12 | |
| ARTICLE 7 - SENIORITY, PROMOTIONS AND LAYOFFS | |
| ARTICLE 8- WAGES15 | |
| ARTICLE 9 - INSURANCE AND PENSIONS | |
| ARTICLE 10- VACATIONS23 | |
| ARTICLE 11- LEAVE PROVISIONS24 | |
| ARTICLE 12 - DISCIPLINARY ACTION27 | |
| ARTICLE 13 - PRIOR BENEFITS27 | |
| ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE28 | |
| ARTICLE 15 - SAVINGS CLAUSE29 | |
| ARTICLE 16 - DURATION29 | |
| SIGNATURES30 | |
| MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENTS (3) | |
| APPENDIX A - SUBSTANCE ABUSE TESTING PROGRAM | |
| APPENDIX B - PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM40 | |
| APPENDIX C - PENSION AGREEMENT59 | |
| APPENDIX D SUMMARY OF HEALTH INSURANCE PLANS | |

AGREEMENT

between

TOWN OF COVENTRY

and

UNITED PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION/ CONNECTICUT ORGANIZATION FOR PUBLIC SAFETY DIVISION ("UPSEU/COPS")

This Agreement entered into by and between the TOWN OF COVENTRY, hereinafter referred to as the "Town" or the Employer", and United Public Service Employees Union/Connecticut Organization for Public Safety Division ("UPSEU/COPS") hereinafter referred to as the "Union."

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

1.0 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of collective bargaining on matters of wages, hours of employment and other conditions of employment for all regular full-time sworn police officers recognized by the Police Officer Standards and Training Council, records clerk-dispatcher, and clerk dispatcher/ community service officer positions of the Coventry Police Department scheduled to work twenty (20) or more hours per week, except the Chief of Police, the Police Chief's confidential administrative assistant, supernumerary and auxiliary employees. Whenever he or she appears, these words shall mean both male and female.

ARTICLE2 UNION SECURITY

- 2.0 Payment of Union dues is set forth below.
- 2.1 Every employee covered by this Agreement must, for the life of this Agreement after the grace period described in Section 2.2 below, satisfy an obligation to the Union as the unit's exclusive bargaining representative. Under this Agreement, employees must choose one of the ways of satisfying this obligation, as described below. Every employee has the right to make this choice free of interference, restraint or coercion:
 - a. Full Union Membership: The employee chooses to join the Union as a full member, is subject to all rights and duties accorded members, and, as a condition of employment, must pay the uniform periodic dues charged by the Union;
 - b. Non-dues Paying Member: The employee does not become a full member of the Union, and thus is not entitled to the full range of rights and duties of Union membership.

The Employer agrees to deduct from the pay of each of its employees who authorizes in writing such deduction from his or her wages, such membership dues, initiation fees and/or agency fees as may be fixed by the Union. Such deductions shall continue for the duration of this Agreement or any extension thereof, and the authorization shall renew itself from year to year. The Union shall notify the Employer in writing, of the amount of dues, initiation fees and agency fees to be deducted. The Union shall provide written notice of any change in these amounts at least 30 days in advance.

- 2.2 Each employee covered by this Agreement, who is not a full member of the Union on the effective date of this Agreement (or hire date, if applicable), has the right to a "grace period" of twenty-nine (29) days in which to choose his/her status. Thus:
 - a. For all employees who are in the unit and are not full Union members on the effective date of this Agreement (or the Agreement's date of execution, whichever is later), their chosen status, and their obligation to pay dues and fees, shall begin on the thirtieth (30th) day after the effective date of this Agreement (or the Agreement's date of execution, whichever is later).
 - b. For all new employees who are hired into the unit during the Agreement's life and are not full Union members on the date of hire, their chosen status, and their obligation to pay dues and fees shall also begin on the thirtieth (30th) day after their date of hire (or the Agreement's date of execution, whichever is later).
- 2.3 Employees in the Union who are full Union members on this Agreement's effective date or, if hired during this Agreement's life, on their date of hire, do not receive the grace period. For these full Union members, their obligation to the Union is continuous and is not affected by this Agreement, although they are free to change their status.
- 2.4 Employees may elect to change their chosen status upon appropriate written notice to the Union once per year in the month of June. Such change will take effect in the first pay period in August.
- 2.5 Deductions as specified in this Article for any month shall be made during the first payroll week of said month and shall be remitted to the Union, together with a list of names of employees from whose wages such deductions have been made, not later than the last day of the month.
- 2.6 The Union agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Employer from and against any and all claims, demands, suits and other forms of liability that may arise out of or by reason of any action taken or not taken by the Employer for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this Article once the deductions have been remitted to the Union.

- 2.7 Continuous and uninterrupted service by the Employer and its employees to the citizens, and orderly collective bargaining relations between the Employer and its employees, being essential considerations of this Agreement, the Union agrees on behalf of itself and its members, individually and collectively, that there shall be no strikes, picketing, boycotting, work stoppages, sit-downs, or slow-downs of work, or any concerted refusal to render services or to work, including overtime, or any other curtailment or restriction of work at any time during the term of this Agreement. The Employer agrees that there will be no lockout of any of its employees during the life of this Agreement.
- 2.8 The Employer will place a bulletin board in an accessible but not public place for the exclusive use of the Union, and will provide each employee with a copy of this Agreement within thirty (30) days after its signing. New employees will be given a copy of this Agreement at the time of hire.
- 2.9 The Union may designate not more than four (4) of its members as official representatives for the processing of grievances, participation in contract negotiations, and for other purposes related to this Agreement. Not more than two (2) of these representatives shall be designated as Stewards and two as Assistant Stewards. At least one Steward or Assistant Steward shall be designated from among non-uniformed members. In the absence of a designated Steward, an Assistant Steward may act in his or her stead for the Union. The Union shall submit to the Town Manager in writing the names and terms of the Stewards and Assistant Stewards designated by the Union. Not more than two (2) of the designated Union representatives may participate in any grievance, negotiation or other matter relating to this Agreement at any one time.
- 2.10 Subject to the sole discretion and approval of the Chief of Police, no more than two (2) members of the Union shall attend a convention, conference, or training session of UPSEU/COPS without a loss of pay.

ARTICLE 3 GENERAL

3.0 The Employer shall provide uniformed employees with appropriate uniforms including, for patrolmen, a reasonable supply of both winter long-sleeve shirts, summer short-sleeve shirts, winter and summer trousers, winter coats, gloves, raincoats, spring jackets, neckties, and storm boots. The Employer shall replace or repair any part of said uniform when necessary, provided such necessity is the result of normal use or is caused by activities arising in the course of the employee's duties as determined by the Chief. The Employer shall pay the cost of cleaning employees' uniforms and the Detectives' plain clothes worn during the course of duty.

Officers assigned to plainclothes duty for ninety (90) days or more shall receive a clothing allowance of one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125) for each ninety (90) day period.

Probationary employees will be reimbursed for fifty percent (50 %) of the cost of recruit uniforms at the police academy. This cost will be limited to sweat shirts, sweat pants, shorts, hooded sweat shirts, khaki trousers and shirts and any other items that pertain to the recruit. Regular uniforms and equipment will be supplied by the Department.

The Town will purchase a ballistic vest for each new hire upon graduation from POST. In addition, the Town will contribute up to a maximum of eight hundred and fifty (\$850) each, toward the purchase of up to five (5) ballistic vests, annually.

Purchase priority will be given to those whose vests have been (1) compromised by an action or situation during working hours or (2) oldest. All vests purchased must be NIJ approved and used consistent with the Department's mandatory wear policy. Within 60 days following the implementation of this Agreement, the Chief and the Union President or their designees shall meet and agree on a schedule for the purchase and replacement of vests. Thereafter, on an annual basis, the parties shall meet and review the schedule and any necessary adjustments thereto.

The Town will reimburse up to one hundred and fifty (\$150) every eighteen (18) months for appropriate footwear for each sworn police officer and appropriate boots for the Community Service Officer.

- 3.1 Watches of sworn police officer employees damaged or destroyed in the line of duty shall be replaced or repaired at the expense of the Employer, not to exceed one hundred dollars (\$100.00) each, when approved by the Chief. Eyeglasses or dentures of sworn police officer employees damaged or destroyed in the line of duty shall be replaced or repaired at the expense of the Employer, not to exceed three hundred dollars (\$300.00) each, when approved by the Chief. Notification must be made to the Chief of Police within three (3) business days of damage or destruction of an item in the line of duty.
- 3.2 Automobiles purchased after the effective date of this Agreement for purposes of police patrol shall be equipped with air conditioning and Anti-Lock Brake Systems (ABS).
- 3.3 The Employer agrees to deduct from the wages of employees each pay period an amount designated by the employee, in writing, on a form supplied by a Credit Union. The Employer shall forthwith remit said deductions to the Credit Union office.
- 3.4 The Chief of Police and the Union shall meet annually in October to review the needs for new equipment or practices leading to better public services. This section shall in no way be construed to mean that such discussion will be binding upon the Chief of Police.
- 3.5 All departmental vehicles shall be washed, waxed, and the interior cleaned commercially three (3) times a year. In the event of a human bodily fluid exposure or an exposure to other hazardous materials, the involved vehicle will be immediately taken off-line and cleaned and disinfected commercially. If a vehicle is taken off-line and cleaned accordingly, this shall be considered the vehicle's cleaning for the trimester.

- 3.6 The Town shall institute a performance evaluation system for all department employees. Each employee of the Coventry Police Department shall receive a performance evaluation in the first quarter of each year. The Chief of Police shall designate appropriate individuals to conduct evaluations for each member of the bargaining unit. The performance evaluation shall be completed on the prescribed department performance evaluation form which is attached hereto as Appendix B. The Chief of Police shall have the right to implement a new department performance evaluation form or system with thirty (30) days' advance notice to the Union President. The Chief and the Union shall meet and agree on the new form or system prior to implementation within such thirty (30) day time-period referenced above.
- 3.7 a. The Coventry Police Department encourages its employees to undergo physical examinations in accordance with the age based health insurance schedules, and pursue a program of exercise to ensure good health and fitness through the Town's health insurance coverage.
 - b. All sworn employees are responsible for maintaining a level of health and fitness sufficient to enable them to safely and effectively perform all aspects of the job of police officer as stated in job descriptions and job task analyses. This includes, but is not limited to, the ability to load and discharge a firearm; effect a forcible arrest, including skills necessary for defense tactics, ASP, TASER and OC spray training; perform CPR; climb stairs; sit and stand for prolonged periods; verbally communicate face-to-face and via radio and telephone and hear and understand such communication; safely operate a motor vehicle, including under conditions of darkness; write and type; read hard-copy printed text and text on a computer monitor and the ability to bend or stretch sufficiently to assist a fallen person or conduct a search of a vehicle or area.
 - c. The Chief of Police may require an officer to submit to a medical or psychological examination in order to determine fitness for duty; such examinations shall be provided at no cost to the employee.

- a. Officers may engage in off-duty employment subject to the following limitations: (1) Such employment shall not interfere with the officer's employment with the Department, (2) Officers shall submit a written request for off-duty employment to the Chief whose approval must be granted prior to engaging in such employment, and (3) Officers shall not engage in any employment or business in violation of Federal or State laws.
 - b. Approval may be denied or revoked where it appears that the outside employment might (1) render the officer unavailable during an emergency, (2) physically or mentally exhaust the officer to the point the performance might be affected, (3) require that any special consideration be given to the scheduling of the officer's regular duty hours, or (4) bring the Department into disrepute or impair the operation or efficiency of the Department or officer.
- 3.9 The Town shall implement and all employees of the Coventry Police Department shall comply with the substance abuse testing program set forth in Appendix A.

The Town shall either conduct criminal background record checks at least every five years of current employees who may have contact with detainees or have in place a system for otherwise capturing such information for current employees.

ARTICLE4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 4.0 The Employer has and will continue to retain, whether exercised or not, all of the rights, powers and authority heretofore had by it and, except where such rights, powers and authority are specifically relinquished, abridged or limited by the provisions of this Agreement, it shall have the sole and unquestioned right, responsibility and prerogative of management of the affairs of the Town and direction of the working force, including but not limited to, the following:
 - 1. To determine the organization and standards of Town services and to manage its operations.
 - 2. To determine the care, maintenance and operation of equipment used for and on behalf of the purposes of the Town.
 - 3. To establish or continue policies, practices and procedures for the conducting of Town business and, from time to time, to change or abolish such policies, practices or procedures.
 - 4. To establish new or improved methods, procedures, practices, technologies or facilities, which the Town may deem necessary and advisable for the efficient operation of the Town.
 - 5. To establish or discontinue processes or operations or to establish or discontinue their performance by employees.

- 6. To determine the standards of selection for employment, and to select and determine the number of and types of employees required or necessary to perform the Town's operations.
- 7. To employ, direct, schedule, assign, evaluate, suspend, discharge, transfer, promote or demote employees, or to lay off, terminate or otherwise relieve employees from duty for lack of work or other legitimate reasons when it shall be in the best interests of the Town.
- 8. To establish or amend and enforce reasonable rules and regulations for the maintenance of discipline and for the performance of work in accordance with the requirements of the Town, provided such rules and regulations are made known in a reasonable manner to the employees affected by them.
- 9. To determine the content of job classifications and ensure that incidental duties connected with the Town operations, whether enumerated in job descriptions or not, shall be performed by employees.
- 10. To fulfill all of the Town's legal responsibilities.
- 11. To establish contracts or sub-contracts for municipal operations, provided that this right shall not be used for the purpose or intention of undermining the Union or of discriminating against its members.

The above rights, responsibilities and prerogatives are inherent in the Town Council and the Town Manager by virtue of statutory and charter provisions and cannot be subject to any grievance or arbitration proceeding except as in the exercise of these rights there is alleged to occur a violation of one or more other sections of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, AND HOLIDAY PAY

5.0 . The Chief may institute an eight-hour schedule for one (1) sergeant position. The Chief shall give forty-five (45) days' notice to the Union in the event the Chief implements this changes. All employees will be allowed a thirty (30) minute lunch break during working hours as assigned by the Chief of Police, whenever possible.

The detective shall normally work Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. to 4 p.m. The Chief of Police has the discretion to accommodate requests to work alternate hours on a regular basis. The detective may also be assigned to work alternate hours in order to accommodate the requirements of a case. In the event of a shortage of patrol staff during Monday through Friday, the detective may be assigned to fill the shortage.

The Administrative Sergeant shall normally work Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. to 4 p.m. The Chief of Police has the discretion to accommodate requests to work alternate hours on a regular basis. The Administrative Sergeant may also be assigned to work alternate hours in order to accommodate operations. In the event of a shortage of patrol staff during Monday through Friday, the Administrative Sergeant may be assigned to fill the shortage.

Any waiver in connection with a different work schedule shall be subject to agreement by the Union.

Shifts will be bid every four months. This bidding schedule will be reviewed and evaluated after one year. Patrol officers shall bid patrol officer slots and sergeants shall bid sergeant slots, in accordance with current practice, as designated by the Chief of Police. The Chief of Police will determine the shift assignments for probationary officers for up to six (6) months after completion of the training academy.

- 5.1 Time and one-half (1-1/2) shall be paid for:
 - a. All hours worked in excess of the employee's normally scheduled shift without duplication or pyramiding.
 - b. Appearance in court, outside of the regular working hours for which an employee will receive a minimum of three (3) hours. Notwithstanding the foregoing, sworn police officers subpoenaed to appear in connection with school expulsion hearings or related proceedings shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours.
- 5.2 A sworn officer who works on a holiday designated in Article VI, Section 6.0 shall be paid double time for all work performed on said holiday, plus regular holiday pay.

The Community Service Officer who works on a holiday designated in Article VI, Section 6.0 shall be paid double time for all work performed on said holiday, plus regular holiday pay. The Community Service Officer who is scheduled to work on a holiday, but requests and receives the day off shall have the leave time charged as a holiday. Said Community Service Officer shall receive no additional pay for the holiday. Should a holiday fall on the Community Service Officer's regular day off, said employee shall be entitled to holiday pay. The regular work week of the Community Service Officer between September 30th and May 1st, inclusive, shall be five (5) consecutive days, Tuesday through Saturday. The regular workweek of the Community Service Officer between May 2nd and September 29th inclusive, shall be five (5) consecutive days, Wednesday through Sunday.

Dispatchers and Clerical Employees shall have the option to receive the holiday time off or to work the holiday at the employee's regular rate of pay and, thereafter, be credited with an eight (8) hour floating holiday. If these positions are called into work, they shall be entitled to be paid double time for hours worked in addition to the holiday pay. Effective July 1, 2020, Dispatchers and Clerical Employees who work the holiday will have the option of either being credited eight (8) hours floating holiday or receiving an additional eight (8) hours of pay at the employee's regular rate.

If there is an opening in the schedule, the Chief of Police (or his designee) shall determine how that is to be filled and whether that position will be filled by a full-time or part-time dispatcher. The current practice regarding filling of dispatcher vacancies with sworn officers and the CSO will not change.

Any employee who is scheduled to work on a holiday, but requests and receives the day off shall have the leave time charged as a holiday. Said employee shall receive no additional pay for the holiday. Should the holiday fall on the employee's regular day off, said employee shall be entitled to holiday pay.

A maximum of 20 hours of floating holiday may be carried forward annually at fiscal year-end (June 30). There will be no compensation paid out for accrued floating time in excess of 20 hours at the end of the fiscal year (June 30). Accruals as of July 1, 2019 must be used through June 30, 2020.

- When an employee is called back to work after he or she has gone home from his or her regularly scheduled day, he or she shall be paid a minimum of three (3) hours pay with the option of working four (4) hours at the applicable overtime rate. If such call- in runs into a regular working day, the employee will be paid time and one-half (1-1/2) his or her regular hourly rate for all hours outside his or her regularly scheduled shift. The minimum call-in time for the Community Service Officer shall be a minimum of two (2) hours pay with the option of working four (4) hours. The employee will have the option of requesting permission of the supervisor to punch out and go home and be paid only for the hours actually worked.
- 5.4 Except when the Chief of Police determines that an employee of special skill is needed, non-bargaining unit employees, part-time and probationary employees prior to certification for the road will not be called to work overtime unless no qualified full-time employees are available. Availability of sworn police officers will be determined by the employee's overtime hours.

The sworn police officers' hours of work or days off may be changed for a specified period of time or shifts to meet special needs on the part of the Town or the Officer as long as the changes are mutually agreed to by the Town and the affected Officer. No overtime is to be caused by these changes.

All employees are subject to being ordered in to duty in the event of an emergency or lack of adequate staffing. All qualified non-sworn employees are subject to being ordered in for dispatching duties and are eligible for voluntary dispatch overtime.

- a. All overtime work paid for with Town monies shall be distributed as equally as possible within twenty-four (24) hours within each job classification during the fiscal year. The sworn police officers' overtime list shall include all sworn officers excluding the Chief.
 - b. A record of overtime hours worked by each employee shall be posted on the department bulletin board and kept current bi-weekly by the designated Steward and the Chief of Police.
 - c. An employee who does not avail themselves for the opportunity to work overtime will be charged on the overtime chart as though they had worked.
 - If an employee works overtime, he/she may request compensatory time at overtime rates be deposited into his/her bank. The total number of hours deposited into his/her bank, in any one fiscal year, shall not exceed one hundred and ten (110), less any balance carried forward, and, in no event, shall the banked accumulation exceed one hundred and ten (110) hours at any time. Any compensatory time in excess of forty (40) hours that is in his/her bank as of June 1st of each fiscal year shall be paid to the employee at his/her rate of pay at the time of payment during the first payroll occurring in June. The remaining up to forty (40) hours of compensatory time in the employee's bank as of June 30th of each fiscal year shall be carried over in his/her bank into the next fiscal year and shall count towards the one hundred and ten (110) hour maximum as set forth above. An employee may request payment of compensatory time at other times during the year except that requests shall not be permitted between June 15th and July 15th of each year. Any such requests must be submitted with the employee's time sheet and will be paid during the next occurring regular payroll. If an employee requests to use banked compensatory time, he/she must request to do so in advance and get approval of the Chief or his/her designee before the compensatory time is taken.
 - e. Requests to take compensatory time will not be unreasonably denied and will not be approved if it creates "order-ins" of other personnel.
- 5.6 The Union shall be given annually the opportunity to inspect the Employer's records of all overtime hours worked and the hourly rate paid therefore to each employee in the bargaining unit.
- 5.7 When an employee uses his or her own car on assigned police business, he or she shall be granted the standard IRS mileage rate per mile for that year. The Town agrees to pay up to a maximum of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) of the employee's insurance deductible for damages to the employee's car when an employee uses his own car for such business. He or she will be required to show that police business not specifically requested by the Employer is of special importance to obtain such reimbursement. In no event shall payment exceed 100 percent of loss to an employee's car including collision insurance if a claim is filed by the employee against his or her own insurance carrier. It is understood that the employee's automobile insurance will serve as the primary policy.

Employees may use their own personal vehicle for traveling to training sites if both of the following requirements are met:

- 1. Travel distance from their point of origin is shorter than traveling to HQ and retrieving a Town vehicle; and
- 2. With approval of the Chief of Police.

Since a probationary employee's place of work assignment is the Police Academy, the probationary employee will be responsible for all mileage expenses commuting to and from the Academy.

In the event of out-of-state training, the Town will pay all the employee's preapproved and authorized lodging and expenses and reimburse the employee for meals up to thirty-five dollars (\$35) per day.

5.8 Outside duty assignments (dances, games, civic functions, and requests by commercial establishments) shall be offered first to regular employees who are not on duty. It is understood that Town functions such as Town meetings, hearings, ceremonies, etc. shall come under the terms of regular overtime. For Coventry Board of Education athletic events, outside duty shall be paid at time and one-half the employee's regular rate contained in Section 8.-0 with a minimum of four (4) hours. Except as otherwise set forth below, all other outside duty assignments performed by the employees shall be paid at time and one half of the private duty rate contained in Section 8.0 with the minimum of four (4) hours by the party requesting or receiving this special service. All outside duty assignments performed by the employees between midnight Saturday morning (Friday into Saturday) and midnight Monday morning (Sunday into Monday), or on any recognized holiday as described in Section 6.0 shall be paid at the rate of two (2) times the private duty rate contained in Section 8.0 with the minimum of four (4) hours by the party requesting or receiving this special service. If special assignments extend beyond 12 o'clock midnight, additional rates may be authorized by the Chief of Police.

Full-time sworn police officers may volunteer to work the Memorial Day Parade. Such sworn police officers will be paid one and one-half (1 ½ times) their regular applicable rate with a four-hour minimum.

In the event a private duty job is unfilled and in the judgement of the Chief of Police or patrol supervisor, and the job must be filled, an officer may be ordered in to duty to fill such assignment. The overtime order in list will be used to fill such assignments

Employees who are assigned to an outside duty assignment in which the vendor cancels such assignment with less than two (2) hours notice, said employee will receive the pay at the applicable pay rate outlined in this agreement for the full scheduled job. Employees who are assigned to an outside duty assignment which the vendor cancels such assignment with less than eight (8) hours notice, said employee will receive the pay at the applicable pay rate outlined in this agreement for four (4) hours.

- 5.9 Sworn employees shall be permitted to work a maximum of sixteen (16) continuous hours. This includes regular duty, overtime and extra duty employment. The employee shall not work more than sixteen (16) hours in a twenty-four (24) hour period. The Chief of Police may waive this limitation in the event of an emergency.
- 5.10 When a Police Department employee is ordered to duty for four or more consecutive hours to fill a shift due to a staffing shortage, the employee shall be compensated with twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) in addition to any other payment required by the collective bargaining agreement. Such payment shall be made through the normal Town payroll process.

ARTICLE 6 HOLIDAYS

6.0 The following holidays shall be observed on such dates as are designated by the State or Federal governments, where applicable:

| Holiday | Day/Date To Be Recognized by the Department |
|------------------------|---|
| New Year's Day | January 1st of each year |
| Martin Luther King Day | Third (3 rd Monday in January of each year) |
| Presidents' Day | Third (3 rd Monday in February of each year) |
| Good Friday | Friday before Easter Sunday of each year |
| Easter Sunday | Sunday on which Easter Holiday is celebrated |
| Memorial Day | Last Monday in May of each year |
| Independence Day | July 4 th of each year |
| Labor Day | First (1st Monday in September of each year) |
| Columbus Day | Second (2 nd Monday in October of each year) |
| Veterans' Day | November 11 th of each year |
| Thanksgiving Day | Fourth (4 th) Thursday of November of each year |
| Christmas Day | December 25 th of each year |
| Employee's Birthday | Date which is on the Employee's birth certificate |

- When a holiday occurs while an employee is on sick or vacation leave, the day shall be treated as a holiday with no charge to his/her sick or vacation leave.
- When a special holiday or day off is declared by the Coventry Town Council or Town Manager or his/her designee, employees will be granted an additional day off with pay. Time and one-half or double time will not be granted for these special holidays. It is understood that this section shall not apply to weather-related closures.

ARTICLE 7 SENIORITY, PROMOTIONS AND LAYOFFS

- The Employer shall prepare a list of bargaining unit employees showing their seniority in length of service with the Employer and deliver the same to the Union on January 31st of each year. Upon completion of their probationary period, new employees shall be added to this list. In the event two or more officers are appointed on the same day, excluding lateral transfers and non-sworn officers, seniority shall be established by their class rank upon completion of the police academy.
- 7.1 "Seniority" shall mean the total period of employment since the most recent date of hire as a full-time employee in the Coventry Police Department.
- Any new employee shall serve a probationary period during which he or she shall have no seniority rights and will have not been covered by this Agreement as to the Grievance procedure if dismissed from employment, but will be subject to all other provisions of this Agreement. Employees who have completed their probationary periods shall acquire length of service records as of the date of their employment. For employees other than regular Patrolpersons, the probationary period shall be six (6) months. For regular Patrolpersons, the probationary period shall be eighteen (18) months, inclusive of any time spent in training at the Police Academy.

The probationary period shall be one (1) year if an employee has previous certification.

- 73 Layoffs within the bargaining unit shall take place as follows:
 - a. part-time employees,
 - b. employees working twenty (20) hours per week but less than forty (40) hours per week,
 - c. probationary employees,
 - d. the employee with the least seniority first, etc.

An employee scheduled for layoff may, if he so desires, replace an employee covered by this contract with less seniority in an equal or, if established, a lower job classification, provided the bumping employee has greater seniority than the employee he bumps. The employee who goes to a lower job classification shall be paid according to the pay schedule for that classification.

7.4 Laid-off, full-time employees with the most seniority shall be rehired first and no new employee shall be hired until all laid-off employees have been given an opportunity to return to work. This rehire right shall terminate one (1) year from the date of layoff. In order to be considered for reemployment, the employee must notify the Employer of his decision to accept reemployment within fifteen (15) days after receipt of a certified letter sent by the Town to his last address on record with the Town of Coventry.

ACLU of Connecticut

acluct.org

- 7.5 In the event of a layoff of employees in the bargaining unit, before any overtime is worked by the employees who are not laid-off, the Town shall offer the available work to the laid-off employees at regular applicable rates, but such work offered under this section shall not be considered a recall and may be refused by the laid-off employees. Before this section is applied, the Chief and the Steward will discuss the feasibility of its application.
 - Any employee reemployed under this provision shall not be entitled to any benefit other than those he would have been entitled to had he not been reemployed, unless such benefit is provided for in this Agreement.
- 7.6 If new classifications deemed to be promotions with an increase of pay are added to the department, which fall within the bargaining unit, the Employer and the Union shall establish a promotional procedure taking into consideration availability of qualified employees, seniority and needs of the department. The job descriptions covering employees within the department shall be maintained on file in the Town Manager's Office.
- 7.7 The town may replace the Administrative Sergeant position with a management-level, non-bargaining member. The Town will not reduce the number of sergeants while the incumbents are in their positions, except that if the Town selects a current bargaining member to fill a non-bargaining slot, the Town may reduce the number of sergeants.

ARTICLE 8 WAGES

8.0 Classifications and regular hourly rates of pay shall be as scheduled below:

NON-SWORN EMPLOYEES

Upon ratification of this agreement and retroactive to July 1, 2019, there shall be a two and one-quarter percent (2.25%) general wage increase to the rates in effect on June 30, 2019 as reflected in the salary schedule below.

Effective and retroactive to July 1, 2019 the Records Clerk-Dispatcher hourly rate will be adjusted by an additional fifty cents (\$0.50) per hour after the agreed upon General Wage Increase, as reflected in the salary schedule below:

Salary Schedule 7/1/2019 - 6/30/2020:

| | Step 1 | Step 2 | Step 3 | Step 4 |
|--|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Records Clerk - Dispatcher | 25.60 | 26.64 | 27.69 | 28.79 |
| Clerk Dispatcher/Community Service Officer | 24.83 | 25.81 | 26.80 | 27.85 |

Effective July 1, 2020, there shall be a two and one-half percent (2.50%) general wage increase to the rates in effect on June 30, 2020, as reflected in the salary schedule below:

Salary Schedule 7/1/20120 - 06/30/2021:

| | Step 1 | Step 2 | Step 3 | Step 4 |
|--|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Records Clerk - Dispatcher | 26.24 | 27.31 | 28.38 | 29.51 |
| Clerk Dispatcher/Community Service Officer | 25.45 | 26.46 | 27.47 | 28.55 |

Effective July 1, 2021, there shall be a two and one-half percent (2.50%) general wage increase to the rates in effect on June 30, 2021, as reflected in the salary schedule below.

Salary Schedule 7/1/2021 - 06/30/2022:

| | Step 1 | Step 2 | Step 3 | Step 4 |
|--|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Records Clerk - Dispatcher | 26.90 | 27.99 | 29.09 | 30.25 |
| Clerk Dispatcher/Community Service Officer | 26.09 | 27.12 | 28.16 | 29.26 |

ACLU of Connecticut acluct.org

SWORN OFFICERS

Effective upon ratification of this agreement and retroactive to July 1, 2019, there shall be a two and one-quarter percent (2.25%) general wage increase to the rates in effect on June 30, 2019 as reflected in the salary schedule below. Private duty rates listed below will be effective upon contract ratification.

Salary Schedule 7/1/2019 - 6/30/2020:

| | Step 1 | Step 2 | Step 3 | Step 4 | Step 5 | Step 6 |
|-------------------|-------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Patrol | 31.64 | 32.86 | 34.44 | 36.19 | 37.26 | 38.39 |
| Sergeant | | | Pd 10 | 40.44 | 41.70 | 42.90 |
| Private Duty Rate | 44.16 | | | | | |
| Trainee | \$53,170 S | alary | | | | |

Effective July 1, 2020, there shall be a two and one-half percent (2.50%) general wage increase to the rates in effect on June 30, 2020, as reflected in the salary schedule below. Effective July 1, 2020, the annual salary for Trainee shall be set forth below:

Salary Schedule 7/1/2020 - 6/30/2021:

| | _Step 1 | Step 2 | Step 3 | Step 4 | Step 5 | Step 6 |
|-------------------|------------|----------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Patrol | 32.43 | 33.68 | 35.30 | 37.09 | 38.19 | 39.35 |
| Sergeant | | | | 41.45 | 42.74 | 43.97 |
| Private Duty Rate | 45.26 | | | | | |
| Trainee | \$54,499.2 | 5 Salary | | | | |

Effective July 1, 2021, there shall be a two and one-half percent (2.50%) general wage increase to the rates in effect on June 30, 2021, as reflected in the salary schedule below. Effective July 1, 2021, the annual salary for Trainee shall be set forth below.

Salary Schedule 7/1/2021 - 6/30/2022:

| | Step I | Step 2 | Step 3 | Step 4 | Step 5 | Step 6 |
|-------------------|------------|----------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Patrol | 33.24 | 34.52 | 36.18 | 38.02 | 39.14 | 40.33 |
| Sergeant | | | | 42.49 | 43.81 | 45.07 |
| Private Duty Rate | 46.39 | | | | | |
| Trainee | \$55,861.7 | 3 Salary | | | | |

Upon promotion, an employee will be placed at the step of the new classification which assures the employee a minimum of a five percent (5%) wage increase.

In no case shall the new rate exceed the wage schedule for the classification.

8.1 A new police officer who is not yet certified will be hired on a salaried basis as a Police Trainee. Upon successful completion of training and certification by the Police Officer Standards and Training Council, the Police Trainee shall advance to Patrol Officer, Step 1. Upon completion of one (1) year as a certified police officer, an employee shall move to Patrol Officer, Step 2. After each additional year as a certified police officer, an employee shall advance one step.

Non-sworn employees who are not at the top step of the wage schedule shall be eligible for annual step increases.

8.2 Employees hired after July 1, 1977 and prior to the ratification of this Agreement by both parties, who are/were enrolled in an accredited college or university, matriculated in a law enforcement curriculum, will receive an additional payment as an increase of his annual base pay according to the following schedule:

| Number of Credits | 30 | 60 | 90 | 120 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Per Year | \$100 | \$200 | \$300 | \$400 |

Such payment shall be paid on or before December 10 of each year. Employees must have those credits prior to December 1 in the year they are paid in order to be eligible for this payment. New employees hired on or after the ratification of this Agreement by both parties shall be ineligible for this payment.

8.3 Employees Hired On Or Before March 23, 2012. For course work which the a. employee enrolls on or after July 1, 1991, the Town shall reimburse the employee for tuition and related course fees for up to two (2) courses at any one time, to a maximum of eighteen (18) credits per year. It is understood that incidental overlap of courses shall not disqualify an employee from tuition reimbursement so long as the overlap is short-term in nature, does not cause the employee to be enrolled in more than three (3) courses at the same time and provided the employee otherwise meets the requirements of this paragraph. In order to obtain reimbursement, the employee must receive a grade of C or better or, if the course is taken on a pass/fail basis, a grade of "pass". To be reimbursed pursuant to this Section, the employee must notify the Chief of Police prior to Thanksgiving each year for reimbursements sought in the following fiscal year for courseworlc taken toward a degree program in Law Enforcement, Criminal Justice, Public Administration, Social Sciences, Computer Science and other course work or programs approved in advance by the Chief. Effective June 15, 2014, the tuition reimbursement provided by this paragraph shall be limited to reimbursement of the first degree obtained by the individual at each of the following levels:

Level 1: Associate's Degree

Level 2: Bachelor's Degree

Level 3: Master's Degree or Law Degree

- b. Employees Hired On Or After March 23, 2012. Effective on March 23, 2012, the Town shall reimburse non-probationary employees for eligible tuition expenses at the rate of seventy-five percent (75 %) of expenses associated with an Associates' Degree or Bachelor's Degree and fifty percent (50%) of expenses associated with a Master's Degree subject to the following maximums and requirements:
 - The Town shall reimburse the employee for tuition for up to a maximum of fifteen (15) credits per fiscal year.
 - The maximum reimbursement per credit hour that may be received by any employee shall be based on pricing for State of Connecticut University system for in-state students.
 - Eligible tuition expenses shall include enrollment and/or registration fees and required course fees for employees who are currently enrolled and actively engaged in coursework during the fiscal year but not books and supplies.
 - In order to be eligible for tuition reimbursement, courses must be taken toward a degree program in Law Enforcement, Criminal Justice, Public Administration, Social Sciences, Computer Science and other course work or programs approved in advance by the Chief.
 - The tuition reimbursement program shall only be applicable to the first Associates' Degree, first Bachelor's Degree and first Master's Degree obtained by the employee. No additional degrees or advanced degrees will be eligible for tuition reimbursement.
 - In order to obtain reimbursement for courses associated with an Associates' Degree or Bachelor's Degree program, the employee must receive a grade of C or better. In order to obtain reimbursement for courses associated with Master's Degree program, the employee must receive a grade of B or better.
 - To be reimbursed pursuant to this Section, the employee must notify the Chief of Police prior to Thanksgiving each year for reimbursements sought in the following fiscal year.
 - Probationary employees are not eligible for tuition reimbursement.
- Each employee who has completed at least three (3) years of service as of July 1 shall receive a longevity payment each year paid no later than the second pay period in July. The longevity payment shall be one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for each year of completed service with the Town up to a maximum payment of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00). New employees hired after July 1, 2019 shall not be entitled to receive longevity until completion of five (5) years of service.
- 8.5 Certified Field Training Officers shall receive an additional one (1) hour of pay, in addition to their regular hours worked, on the days that they perform any FTO function. This shall be paid out in the applicable paycheck and is not eligible for compensatory time.

Communications Training Officers (CTO) shall receive an additional \$2.50 per hour when performing CTO functions. This rate shall be adjusted annually based on the general wage increases outlined in section 8.0.

- 8.6 Employees shall have all wages and other payments earned by an employee deposited directly to a bank or credit union account of the employee's choosing, on the normal paydays for such wages and other payments.
- 8.7 A lateral hire may be placed on a step of pay as determined by the Town and Chief of Police.

ARTICLE 9 INSURANCE AND PENSIONS

- 9.0 <u>Health Insurance.</u> The Town shall provide and pay for the following insurance for all employees and their enrolled dependents. Enrollment shall take place annually.
 - Health Insurance. Employees may elect coverage for themselves and their enrolled dependents under one of the following plans, or other coverage agreed to in any memorandum of understanding or side letter of agreement between the Employer and the Union:
 - 1. A PPO/OAP plan as summarized as "Plan 1" in Appendix D. Effective January 1, 2020, the PPO plan offered will change from OAPT4 to OAB12.
 - 2. ECHIP Common Plan Comprehensive Mix Plan as summarized as "Plan 2" in Appendix D.
 - 3. ECHIP Common Plan Comprehensive Mix Plan as summarized as "Plan 3" in Appendix D.
 - 4. A High Deductible Health Plan with a Health Savings Account (HDHP/HSA) with a deductible of \$1,350 for individual and \$2,700 for plus 1 and family coverage (which deductible(s) shall be subject to adjustment on an annual basis in order to qualify as a HDHP in compliance with applicable authority) and as further summarized as "Plan 4" in Appendix D. As of January 1, 2020, the annual deductible will increase to \$2,000 for individual and \$4,000 for plus 1 and family coverage.

For Plan 3 and 4: The Town will contribute the following percentage of the annual required deductible to an HSA account on or about January 1st of each year:

| January 1, 2020 | 75% |
|-----------------|-----|
| January 1, 2021 | 75% |
| January 1 2022 | 70% |

ACLU of Connecticut acluct.org

The employees shall be responsible for the remaining balance of the deductible and all account maintenance fees. The Town and Union agree that if an employee chooses to change back to another health plan during the annual Spring Open Enrollment Period, the employee shall be responsible for any additional taxes and/or penalties as required by Federal law. The parties acknowledge that the Town's contribution toward the funding of the HDHP plan is not an element of the underlying insurance plan, but rather related to the manner in which the deductible shall be funded for active employees. It is further understood that the Town shall have no obligation to fund any portion of the HDHP deductible for retirees or other employees or other individuals upon their separation of employment.

- Anthem Blue Cross/Blue Shield Dental with Rider A or comparable dental plan.
- Vision Care Rider

Employees shall contribute through payroll deduction the following premium cost sharing percentages of the total expense of health insurance (medical/vision and dental) for the plan the employee selected.

Coverage under Plan I (PPO/OAP with Vision Rider and Dental)

Effective July 1, 2019: 15.25% (unchanged from prior year)

Effective July 1, 2020: 16.00% Effective July 1, 2021: 16.75%

Coverage under Plans 2 and 3 (ECHIP Common Plan Comp Mix or ECHIP HDHP with Vision and Rider and Dental)

Effective upon contract ratification: 16.75%

Effective July 1, 2020: 17.25% Effective July 1, 2021: 18.25%

Coverage under Plan 4 (HDHP with Vision and Rider and Dental)

Effective January 1, 2020: 15.00% Effective July 1, 2020: 15.00% Effective July 1, 2021:15.00%

The Town will deduct this withholding through a Section 125 plan on a pre-tax basis.

Sworn Employees. If, on December 1, 2016, the total cost of a group health plan or plans offered under this contract meets the contemplated thresholds that would trigger an excise tax for high risk professions under the Internal Revenue Code Section 49801, or any other local, state or federal statute or regulation on or after that date, the Town and/or the Union shall have the right to request a reopener or negotiations on or about January 1, 2017. The reopener shall be for the following limited purposes:

- (1) Developing one or more alternative group health plan or plans having a total combined cost that falls below the applicable excise tax thresholds, regardless of whether such replacement plan(s) is/are comparable to the one(s) previously in effect. Such plan(s) shall be implemented no earlier than July 1, 2017.
- (2) Determining the apportionment of the cost of the excise tax between the parties.

Non-Sworn Employees. If, on December 1, 2016, the total cost of a group health plan or plans offered under this contract meets the contemplated thresholds that would trigger an excise tax under the Internal Revenue Code Section 49801, or any other local, state or federal statute or regulation on or after that date, the Town and/or the Union shall have the right to request a reopener or negotiations on or about January 1, 2017. The reopener shall be for the following limited purposes:

- (1) Developing one or more alternative group health plan or plans having a total combined cost that falls below the applicable excise tax thresholds, regardless of whether such replacement plan(s) is/are comparable to the one(s) previously in effect. Such plan(s) shall be implemented no earlier than July 1, 2017.
- (2) Determining the apportionment of the cost of the excise tax between the parties.

In the event that an employee dies while working for the Town of Coventry, that employee's spouse and/or dependent child/ children shall continue to receive health insurance coverage for one year following the employee's death paid for by the Town unless there is alternative health insurance coverage already provided for the spouse and dependent child/children.

<u>Life Insurance</u>. The Town shall provide for each employee:

Life Insurance equal of \$50,000. Employees may voluntarily purchase additional life insurance in five thousand dollar (\$5,000) increments.

Accidental Death & Dismemberment Insurance of \$80,000.

The ability to purchase additional Life Insurance above the Town provided Life Insurance amounts at Town costs.

Change of Carriers

The Town shall have the right to change carriers for the insurance listed above, or to self-insure, provided that the benefits are substantially equal to those currently provided.

Part-time Employees

All benefits for part-time employees hired on or after July 1, 1991 shall be prorated on the basis of hours actually worked.

Upon execution of this agreement, the Town agrees to facilitate payroll deductions for short-term disability benefits through a mutually agreed upon vendor for any member of the bargaining unit who chooses to enroll.

Any employee who shall suffer personal injury in the performance of his or her work and who shall be eligible for payments under the Workers' Compensation Act, shall receive the difference between his/her average net pay for the fifty-two (52) weeks prior to such injury and the weekly payment for workers' compensation for a maximum of six (6) months. Extensions may be granted by the Town Manager for a good cause. For the purpose of this section, "net pay" shall be defined as the employee's gross straight time and overtime earnings less deductions for federal and state income tax, and that portion of FICA which the employee will not be required to pay on the portion of his/her income which is provided by workers' compensation. It is the intent of this section that an employee's take-home pay during a period of workers' compensation shall be equal to the employee's average take-home pay during the fifty-two (52) weeks preceding his/her injury.

The Town may intervene in any suit against a third party so that the Town may recover payment for supplemental pay and insurance benefits while the employee was on worker's compensation.

All employees hired on or after July 1, 1988 who are eligible for benefits under Section 7-433c (Heart and Hypertension Statute) must be and remain non-smokers as a condition of continued employment.

9.2 PENSIONS - SWORN PERSONNEL

The Town of Coventry shall provide pension benefits for the uniformed and plain clothes sworn officers in accordance with the Town of Coventry Pension Plan as amended by the Pension Agreement between the Town and the Union effective July 1, 2007 through June 30, 2012 which is attached hereto as Appendix C.

Effective for new employees hired on or after May 27, 2015 by both parties, Article V, Section 5.1 of the Plan shall be modified to replace the existing normal retirement date for sworn officers of age forty-five (45) and twenty (20) years of service with a normal retirement date of age fifty (50) and twenty (20) years of service.

The Town and the Union agree that they will not make any demands for changes or improvements in the pension plan for the duration of the contract.

9.3 PENSIONS - OTHER EMPLOYEES:

The parties have agreed that the Records Clerk-Dispatcher, Clerk-Dispatcher, and Community Service Officer employees covered by this Agreement shall be covered by the Town of Coventry Pension Plan as amended by the Pension Agreement between the Town and the Union effective July 1, 2007 through June 30, 2012.

The Town and the Union agree that they will not make any demands for changes or improvements in the pension plan for the duration of the contract.

- 9.4 Bargaining unit employees, who retire on or after July 1, 1999 under the Town's pension program, will be eligible to purchase medical insurance at their own expense through the Town. The Town may, at its option develop a separate medical plan for retirees. Such plan shall be substantially comparable to the medical benefit plan provided to active bargaining unit employees. It is understood that the COBRA period is not extended because of this contract provision. This coverage will not be available to retirees who are eligible for medical benefits from another employer or who are eligible for Medicare coverage. Each retiree will be required to sign a sworn statement on availability of benefits each year. These benefits will not be available to any officer who is receiving benefits under the heart and hypertension statutes.
- 9.5 Effective July 1, 2013, and each year thereafter, the Town will match dollar for dollar an employee's contribution to the ICMA Section 457 Deferred Compensation program up to one thousand dollars (\$1,000) annually (\$38.46 per bi-weekly payroll).

ARTICLE 10 VACATIONS

Employees shall be entitled to vacations .with pay at the employee's basic earnings on the following basis:

Full-time - Regular rate times 40 hours per week

Part-time - Regular rate times 20 hours per week

- a. One (1) year, but less than five (5) years of service two (2) weeks
- b. Five (5) years, but less than ten (10) years of service three (3) weeks
- c. Ten (10) years of service but less than fifteen (15) years four (4) weeks
- d. Fifteen (15) years and over five (5) weeks

The employee's anniversary date will be used to determine the amount of vacation time due. Five (5) days of the ten (10) days earned during the first year of employment may be taken at the end of six (6) months of employment.

ACLU of Connecticut acluct.org

A schedule of vacation periods shall be made and posted not later than May 1st each year by the Chief of Police based on requests made by the employees, who shall indicate their choice of vacation not later than April 1st. Choice of vacations shall be given by seniority as long as they do not conflict with the orderly running of the department. The Chief of Police has the right to limit the total number of employees who may be on vacation at any one time in accordance with the current practice.

- Pro-rata accumulated vacation pay shall be granted to an employee in the event he voluntarily terminates his service with the Employer, but not if he leaves without two (2) weeks notice.
- In the event of the death of an employee, his spouse and/or minor children shall receive his pro-rata accumulated vacation pay. If the employee has neither spouse nor minor children, the pay shall be given to the estate of the employee.
- In the event of illness necessitating confinement lasting three (3) or more days during the employee's vacation period, the employee shall be given the option of charging the sick days to his sick leave with a doctor's certificate certifying such confinement.

ARTICLE 11 LEAVE PROVISIONS

- 11.0 Employees shall accrue sick leave at the rate of one and one-quarter (1-1/4) days per month during the calendar year for each full month worked, cumulative to a maximum of one hundred and fifty (150) days. New employees hired on or after July 1, 1996 will accumulate a maximum of one hundred (100) sick days. Each employee shall be notified of his accumulated sick leave by letter when he is given his W-2 form each calendar year. Any unused, accumulated sick leave to an employee's credit at the time of the signing of this Agreement shall be carried forward for his use under the terms of this Article. The Assistant Animal Control Officer and other employees who are hired and scheduled to work less than the regular hours shall receive pro-rata sick leave but may use it in units of a day. Such sick leave as has accrued to the employee's credit may be used for the following purposes:
 - a) personal illness or physical incapacity,
 - b) exposure to contagious disease or enforced quarantine in accordance with health requirements,
 - c) attendance required by physical incapacity in the employee's immediate family, including the employee's spouse. Proof of such incapacity must be provided, in writing, to the Chief.
 - d) doctor's appointments with prior approval of the Chief of Police.

The Town of Coventry agrees to maintain a Long-Term Disability Plan (LTD) covering the members of this bargaining unit. The LTD program will commence after 90 days of such injury and shall pay the employee sixty-six percent (66 %) of his/her salary.

An employee in active service at the effective date of this Agreement, and having completed at least five (5) years of such service, upon his or her voluntary termination or retirement from Town employment, shall receive on the basis of his or her current wages, full compensation for any unused accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of ninety (90) days, providing the employee gives two (2) weeks notice to the Employer of his or her intention to leave. New employees hired on or after July 1, 1996 will receive a maximum payout upon voluntary termination or retirement of seventy-five (75) days based on the average salary in the last five (5) years of employment.

In the event of an employee's death, his spouse and/or minor children receive, on the basis of the employee's current wages, full compensation for the employee's unused accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of ninety (90) days. If the employee has neither spouse nor minor children, the pay shall be given to the estate of the employee.

Payment under this Section shall be made during the first regular payroll following retirement.

- 11.2 Additional sick leave with pay may be granted as warranted by the Town Manager when applied for by the employee or his representative in writing, stating the reason for the additional sick leave.
- 11.3 Employees shall be granted leave with full pay for the reasons following:
 - a. Military leave and the rights and benefits associated therewith shall be provided in accordance with State law (including Conn. Gen. Stat. §7-461, 7-462, and 27-33) and Federal law (USERRA), as it may be amended from time to time.
 - b. Four (4) personal leave days per fiscal year, for use on personal or family matters such as births, school graduations, weddings, moving, religious observances or other important personal events that require absence during regular scheduled working hours. Requests for such leave shall be submitted to the Chief or his designee at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance, unless an emergency situation prevents such notice, and shall be granted for the purpose indicated in the request unless there is a demonstrable need for the employee's services, stated in writing by the Chief or his designee, on the day or days for which such leave is requested. Personal leave days are not accumulative beyond the end of any fiscal year. Employees shall receive an extra day's pay for any personal leave that is unused because the request for its use was denied. Any personal leave days denied in the last thirty (30) days of the fiscal year will not be paid as provided above. Part-time employees working twenty (20) or more hours per week shall receive two (2) days per year, but may use them in whole.

ACLU of Connecticut acluct.org

c. (i) Five (5) days of leave shall be granted to an employee for death of the employee's spouse and/or the employee's child or stepchild. Four (4) days' leave shall be granted to an employee for death in the immediate family of the employee, or the immediate family of his spouse. Immediate family, for the purpose of this clause, is defined as: parents, grandparents, brother, sister, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or grandchild, and also any relation who resides in the employee's household. For the part-time Assistant Animal Control Officer, and other part-time employees, the leave shall be up to four (4) days during assigned working hours ending with the day of the funeral.

- (ii) Up to two (2) days of the bereavement leave described in 3c(i) above may be used annually for participation in funeral activities due to the death of a sister in law or brother in law and up to one (1) day per year may be used for the participation in funeral activities for the death of an uncle or aunt of the employee or the employee's spouse. The Town shall have the right to ask for submission of proof of the death and relationship. Additionally, it is understood that the two (2) days due to the death of a sister in law or brother in law and the one (1) day due to the death of an uncle or aunt of the employee or the employee's spouse are for direct participation and/or travel to participate in the funeral activities.
- d. Additional leave days may be granted at the discretion of the Town Manager.
- 11.4 A full-time employee who maintains a perfect attendance record for four (4) consecutive months shall be granted eight (8) hours' pay at his regular base rate of pay or eight (8) hours off with pay, at his option. No more than twenty-four (24) such hours may be earned in any twelve-month period. Absence for vacation leave or other leave specified in Section 11.3 will not be counted against perfect attendance for purposes of this section, but all other absences will be so counted. An employee may accumulate up to three (3) earned days. There shall be no payment for earned days at termination or severance of employment.
- 11.5 An employee who becomes pregnant shall be eligible for such rights as are set forth in Conn. Gen. Stat. §46a-60(a)(7).
- When an employee cannot perform the full functions of his/her position on a temporary basis due to injury which was incurred during the course of duty, the Town will review whether there are any light duty assignments available that are consistent with the medical restrictions as certified by any treating physician. It is understood that the availability of light duty assignments is not guaranteed.
- 11.7 Officers on sick leave are prohibited from working secondary employment, including private duty assignments, until 24 hours past the start of the missed shift. This also applies to family sick leave. Officers who are assigned to light duty must seek permissions to engage in secondary employment, including private duty assignments. This does not apply to pre-scheduled medical appointments.

ARTICLE 12 DISCIPLINARY ACTION

- 12.0 All disciplinary actions shall be applied in a fair manner and shall not be inconsistent with the infraction for which the disciplinary action is being applied.
- 12.1 The Town shall generally apply the principles of progressive discipline that shall include the following, but need not follow this order, depending on the seriousness of the infraction by the employee and/or as indicated in the Personnel Rules of the Town of Coventry as they may be amended from time to time.
 - a. a documented verbal warning,
 - b. a written warning,
 - c. suspension without pay,
 - d. discharge.
- 12.2 All suspensions and discharges must be for just cause, in writing, with a copy given to the employee and the Union Steward within twenty-four (24) hours of such suspension or discharge.
- 12.3 All disciplinary actions shall be appealable under the grievance procedure except disciplinary action against probationary employees, as spelled out in Section 7.2.

ARTICLE 13 PRIOR RIGHTS

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as abridging any right or benefit that employees have enjoyed heretofore by official action of the Town of Coventry. There will be no claim for practice prior to January 1, 1985.

ARTICLE 14 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 14.0 It is the intent and purpose of this Agreement to establish and maintain harmonious relations to secure a prompt and peaceful disposition of grievances within the provisions of this Agreement, to eliminate interruptions of work and interference with the efficient operation of the Police Department of the Town of Coventry, and to promote the welfare of the Employer and the employees. For purposes of this Agreement, a grievance shall be defined as a complaint alleging a specific violation of a provision of this Agreement. Grievances will be processed in the following manner at the request of either party:
 - a. Within ten (10) working days of the occurrence of the condition giving rise to the grievance or within ten (10) working days of the employee's knowledge of its occurrence, whichever comes later, the aggrieved employee and/or the Union Steward shall submit the grievance in writing to the Chief of Police. The aggrieved employee, Union Steward and the Chief of Police shall arrange a meeting within ten (10) working days of the submission of the grievance. The Chief of Police shall provide an answer to the grievance in writing within ten (10) working days of the date of the meeting regarding the grievance. Working days shall be construed as Monday through Friday.
 - b. Within ten (10) working days of the Chief's answer in Step (a) above, the grievance may be submitted by the aggrieved employee, the Union business agent, and/or the Steward, to the Town Manager. The Town Manager shall arrange a meeting within five (5) working days, with all those concerned present, to review the facts. The Town Manager shall provide an answer to the grievance in writing within ten (10) working days of the date of the meeting regarding the grievance.
 - c. Within fifteen (15) working days following the Town Manager's answer under Step (b) above, the Union with written notice to the other party, may submit a grievance to the Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration for arbitration according to its rules of procedure then existing. The arbitrator shall not have the power to add to, modify, amend or delete any terms or provisions of the Agreement. The decision of the board shall be final and binding on all parties except as otherwise required by law. The cost of arbitration shall be borne equally by the Employer and the Union. By mutual agreement of the Town and the Union, the grievance may be submitted for mediation by the State Board of Mediation and Arbitration prior to arbitration of the case.
 - d. Only the Union or the Employer may submit a grievance to arbitration.
 - e. The timelines set forth in this procedure may be extended only by the mutual written agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 15 SAVINGS CLAUSE

15.0 If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement shall be held for any reason to be inoperative, void, or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, it being the intention of the parties in adopting this Agreement that no portion thereof or provision herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of the invalidity of any other portions or provisions, and the parties do hereby declare that they would have severally approved of and adopted the provisions contained herein separately and apart from the other. The parties agree to immediately negotiate a substitute for the invalidated article, section, sentence, clause or phrase.

ARTICLE 16 DURATION

- 16.0 This Agreement shall be effective as July 1, 2019, and shall remain in effect through the thirtieth day of June 2022. The anniversary date of this Agreement shall be July 1, 2022.
- 16.1 This Agreement shall be automatically renewed from year to year after its anniversary unless either party shall notify the other, in writing not less than one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the anniversary date that it desires to modify this Agreement. In the event that such notice is given, negotiations shall begin not later than thirty (30) days prior to the anniversary date. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with applicable law.
- 16.2 The provisions of Sections 16.0 and 16.1 notwithstanding, the provisions of this Agreement concerning pensions shall remain in effect from July 1, 2019 through the 30th day of June, 2022. The provisions of this Agreement concerning pensions shall be automatically renewed from year to year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing not less than one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to July 1, 2022 that it desires to modify the pension provisions. In the event that such notice is given, negotiations shall begin not later than thirty (30) days prior to July 1, 2022.

| IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties heret | to have set their hands, this <u>ty</u> day, of |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| TOWN OF COVENTRY | UNITED PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION/CONNECTICUT ORGANIZATION FOR PUBLIC SAFETY DIVISION ("UPSEU/COPS") |
| By: John A. Elsesser Town Manager | By: Kevin Boyle President, UPSEU |
| | By: Jeremy Powell Labor Relations Representative |
| | COVENTRY POLICE NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE |
| | By: Jeffrey Spadjinske By: Kevin Vail |

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENTS

#1 (Town has established use of Vantagecare Retiree Savings Plan for retirees)

The Town and the Union shall agree to establish a committee to study the Vantagecare Retirement Health Savings Plans and to discuss transitioning the existing health savings plan to the Vantagecare Retiree Savings Plan.

#2

It is the Town's understanding that the Union may be interested in modifying the manner in which overtime is distributed to the bargaining unit. During the period of this collective bargaining agreement, the Chief is willing to evaluate and consider an alternative method for distributing overtime if proposed by the Union. The Chief shall have the sole discretion to determine whether to implement such alternative method for the distribution of overtime based on the legitimate fiscal concerns of the Town and the operations of the Department. Nothing herein shall be deemed to require bargaining under the provisions of the Municipal Employee Relations Act ("MERA"). Furthermore, it is understood that nothing herein shall be subject to interest arbitration under MERA.

#3

The Town and the Union agree to continue to abide by the attached settlement agreement unless or until the parties mutually agree to modify the agreement or until the time that the Coventry Police Department becomes a staffed 911 fire and police dispatcher center, whichever comes first.

See Grievance Settlement Attached from 3/1/2006.

To: Chief Beau Thurnauer

From: Officer Michael K. Hicks, Pres. CILU/CIPU Local #16

Subj: Dispatcher Greg Sachok Grievance

Date: 03/01/2006

CC; Officer Brian Flanagan, Full-Time Dispatchers

Chief,

I thank you for your timely response to Dispatcher Sachok's grievance. I am glad that we came up with a compromise so we did not have to pursue this matter further. Here is the agreement as explained to me (in list form). If you agree with all of these statements then please sign the bottom and we will consider it official. Should you disagree with any of these statements please contact me so I can make the appropriate corrections.

- Dispatcher Sachok will be paid for 4 hours of Holiday time.

- All full-time dispatchers will have the choice of working on their birthdays if they choose to do so. They may also choose to utilize the allotted 8 hours of holiday time to have the day off. If dispatchers work on their birthdays they should be paid according to Article V, Section 5.2 of the contract (Holiday pay).

All full-time dispatchers will keep their schedule as it is on this date. (Jamaitus; M-F 1600-2400, Wolfe; M-F 0800-1600, Widell; M-F 0800-1600, Gilchrist; M-F 0800-1600). I do understand that Gilchrist's hours tend to be more flexible than the others and her schedule should reflect that as needed. The main point of importance is that the F/T Dispatchers will not be assigned to work weekends and will not rotate shifts.

The Union agrees that all F/T dispatchers will not work any holiday other than their designated birthdays unless it is an overtime situation.

This agreement is in effect from now (3/1/2006) until the time that the Coventry Police Department becomes a staffed 911 fire and police dispatch center. At the time that the Coventry Police Department has PSAP (911 Dispatch) authority, this agreement can be negotiated further.

Thank you,

Officer Michael K. Hicks

President CILU/CIPU Local #16

Chief Bean Thomauer

Chief of Police, Coventry

*Note * - Once this agreement is signed by both parties, the pending grievance is respectfully withdrawn.

- 32 -

#4

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

The Town of Coventry ("Town"), the United Public Service Employees Union ("Union") and Sergeant Michael Hicks ("Sergeant Hicks") agree to the following terms of this Memorandum of Agreement ("Agreement") in resolution of the Union's Grievance Number 2018-001 ("Grievance").

WHEREAS, Sergeant Hicks is a member of the Union;

WHEREAS, on or about January 30, 2018, the Union filed Grievance Number 2018-001 on behalf of Sergeant Hicks contesting a January 25, 2018 change to his scheduled hours;

WHEREAS, the Town and the Union are Parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement dated July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2019 covering certain members of the Coventry Police Department;

NOW THEREFORE, the Town, the Union and Sergeant Hicks have agreed to resolve all issues involving the Grievance under the following terms and conditions outlined below, which the Parties agree and acknowledge constitutes sufficient consideration:

- 1. The Town agrees that for the remainder of the current collective bargaining agreement and unless and until contrary language is agreed upon in any successor collective bargaining agreement, if the Town changes the work schedule of any of the sergeants without the mutual agreement of the affected sergeants, the Town will normally provide the affected sergeants with fourteen (14) calendar days' prior notice of the proposed changes to the applicable work schedule excluding the normal bid process where an employee's schedule may be changing. In making any such schedule change, the Town also agrees that it will consider any individual and/or family needs of the affected sergeants so as to provide those sergeants with the opportunity to address these individual needs prior to the start of the new scheduled shift. Further, if a sergeant indicates that due to extenuating family, personal or other needs that a thirty (30) calendar day prior notice of the proposed work schedule is required than the sergeant may request such thirty (30) day advance notice, which request shall not be unreasonably denied by the Town.
- 2. It is expressly acknowledged and agreed that the Partles will have the opportunity during contract negotiations for a successor collective bargaining agreement to the one expiring on June 30, 2019 for the purposes of proposing revisions to any provisions of the current collective bargaining agreement involving shift changes including, but not limited to, Article 5, Section 5-4.
- The Union and Sergeant Hicks agree to withdraw in writing and with prejudice Grievance Number 2018-001. Further, the Union and Sergeant Hicks agree that they will not file any request for arbitration or any claims, prohibited practices, lawsuits

or administrative charges against the Town or the Coventry Police Department (including its current or former employees or elected officials) in connection with the events and/or issues which form the basis of Grievance Number 2018-001.

- 4. The Town and the Union agree that this Agreement, and the events connected with it shall not constitute precedent or the establishment of any past practice for purposes of interpreting any provisions of any collective bargaining agreements between the Parties or any policies and practices of the Town.
- 5. Neither the negotiation, undertaking or signing of this Agreement constitutes or operates as an acknowledgement or admission by the Town that its present or former officers or any elected or appointed representatives or employees of the Town have violated or failed to comply with any federal or state constitutions, statutes, regulations or contractual provisions, policies or practices.
- 6. This Agreement constitutes the complete understanding between the Parties. No other promises and agreements shall be binding or of any effect unless signed by the Parties. The Parties also agree this Agreement supersedes any and all prior discussions between the Parties.
- The Parties acknowledge and agree that they are entering into the Agreement knowingly and voluntarily and without coercion or duress from any other person or entity.
- 8. The terms of this Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of the State of Connecticut.

IN WITNESS WHEREAS, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date shown;

FOR THE TOWN OF COVENTRY

John Elsesser

n Elsesser

GRIEVANT

Sérgeant Michael Hicks

FOR THE UNION

Als Duly Authorized Representative

Date

#5

TO:

Jeremy Powell, Union Representative UPSEU/COPS

FROM:

John A. Elsesser, Town Manager

RE:

Grievance 2019-001 Sergeant Michael Hicks

DATE:

June 14, 2019

I am responding to the grievance filed pertaining to the non-payment of holiday double time pay on April 25, 2019 as a result of trading shifts (aka swap) with Officer Bona. While the Town disagrees that the Town did anything wrong since we are not part of the swap agreement, we are willing to settle this agreement subject to the following conditions:

- All parties agree that the when a swap is approved between two employees, the schedule will
 not change and the employee initially assigned to the shift will be paid.
- All swaps or shift trades must be approved by the Chief of Police, or if not available within a 48-hour period, the Administrative Sergeant. In no case can an officer of any rank approve his own shift trade or swap.
- The Town will compensate Michael Hicks for the ten hours of double time sought in his grievance in the next regular payroll after receipt of a signed settlement.
- The Town will recoup the payment of 10 hours of double time paid to Officer Bona since the Town should not have to incur holiday payments to two individuals.
- The union understands and agrees that in order to properly process bi-weekly payroll, that the
 employee who was originally scheduled to work a day that was swapped will be the employee
 who will receive pay for that day.

John A. fisesser Town Manager

Date signed

Accepted by Union as full and final settlement:

Jegemy Powell

, (ወደፓ

Michael Hick

Date cionad

Date signed

APPENDIX A

TOWN OF COVENTRY POLICE DEPARTMENT

SUBSTANCE ABUSE TESTING PROGRAM

As part of its commitment to safeguard the health and safety of its employees and the residents of the town of Coventry, and to promote a drug free work environment, the town and the union agree that all police department employees must refrain from the use of illegal drugs and the abuse of prescription drugs at all times, whether on or off duty, and the on-duty use of alcohol. Failure to do so is presumptively just cause for discipline in accordance with the procedures described in this article. It is further agreed that employees shall not consume alcohol or alcoholic beverages for at least eight (8) hours prior to their assigned shift.

Therefore, the parties agree that they will engage in a system of testing for drugs and alcohol when necessary or appropriate. In that regard, it is the desire of both parties to ensure that rehabilitation services are available to employees when appropriate pursuant to this section.

Section 1. Basis for Testing

Administration of screening test to detect the presence of drugs or alcohol in members of the Department shall be performed in the following circumstances:

- a) on a random basis;
- b) upon reasonable suspicion that the employee is using or is under the influence or illegal drugs, is abusing legally prescribed drugs, or is reporting for duty under the influence of drugs or alcohol;
- c) post-incident testing.

It is understood that for the purposes of this article, tobacco/tobacco products shall not be considered as an illegal dug(s) that is subject to testing.

Section 2. Test Based upon Reasonable Suspicion

An employee may be required to undergo testing based on "reasonable suspicion" when objective facts and observations are personally observed, or brought to the attention of a supervisor and, based upon the reliability and weight of such information, the supervisor can reasonably infer or suspect that the member is using illegal drugs, is abusing prescription drugs, or is reporting for duty under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Reasonable suspicion determinations may be based upon, but are not limited to the following: Observable phenomena, such as direct observation of illegal use or possession of drugs and/or physical symptoms or manifestations of being under the influence of drugs, controlled substances, marijuana or alcohol, abnormal conduct or erratic behavior while on duty (e.g.: slurred speech, uncoordinated movement, gait, speech, impaired judgement). Other determinations for reasonable suspicion may be facts which may include, but are not limited to: reports and observations of the member's drug-related activity, such as purchase, sale or possession of drugs; ongoing personal associations with known drug dealer or users; observations of the member at a known illegal drug or drug-related locations; an otherwise

- 36 -

2020-2022 Agreement Between the Town of Coventry and UPSEU/COPS Coventry Police Department Appendix A – Substance Abuse Testing Program

unexplained change in the member's behavior or work performance or an observed impairment of the member's ability to perform his or her duties.

If a supervisor determines that drug or alcohol testing is necessary, the supervisor shall arrange to give such testing. If the employee is ordered to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test, the employee shall be given a brief verbal statement of the basis for reasonable suspicion. A verbal directive to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test shall be confirmed in writing at a later time. The testing shall not be delayed pending the issuance or such a written order. The chief of police shall be notified by the supervisor within 4 hours that such testing has been performed.

An employee may be subject to an immediate post-incident drug and/or alcohol test when involved in any incident which results in the death or serious physical injury of any person.

Section 3. Testing Procedures

Drug and alcohol testing shall be performed by a license laboratory who is contract by the town. In the event the laboratory that tests for alcohol is not open, a breathalyzer test shall be administered by a supervisor, designated by the chief of police, who is trained in the use of the of the breathalyzer. All testing will be done with due regard to the chain of custody as well and the employee's rights to privacy and union representation.

Testing for alcohol shall be by breathalyzer and if positive, there shall be a confirming test after 15 minutes. Testing for drugs shall be by urine test.

For urine testing, the sample will be split into two parts. An employee whose drug test results in a positive report may, within forty-eight (48) hours of receiving notification of such result, request in writing to the chief of police that the second part of the sample be made available for re-testing at a license or certified laboratory in such a manner as to ensure the proper chain of custody. The second test performed at the employee's request shall be at the expense of the employee. If the second test is negative, the positive test shall be null and void and the town shall reimburse the employee for the cost of the second test.

Section 4. Random Testing

Selection of members tested on a random basis shall be done by a computerized fandom selection system as determined by the contracted testing agency. Thirty (30) percent of the membership shall be tested annually. The random selection of a member will not result in that member's name being removed from any future random selection process.

Those members selected for random drug testing will be notified at their first available shift and shall be directed to report to the testing facility. Any request for use of any time off or compensatory time off shall not be granted if the employee has, at the time of such request, already been directed to submit to random testing as provided above. A member who reports that they are sick after being notified of the assigned test date will be required to report for the test unless a physician personally examines the employee and directs that they are unable to do so.

Employees required to stay beyond their normal working hours in order to complete the testing

- 37 -

shall be compensated only for the additional time it takes to complete the testing process.

Section 5. Interference with or Refusal to Submit to Testing

Any altercation, switching, substitution or tampering with the sample or test given under this Agreement by any employee shall be grounds for immediate suspension and subsequent disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. The refusal by an employee to submit to a drug or alcohol screening test pursuant to the provisions of this Article, or to cooperate in providing information needed in connection with the testing, shall result in the employee's immediate suspension and subsequent disciplinary action which may include dismissal.

If an employee is ordered to submit to testing for alcohol, the employee shall submit to a breathalyzer test to be administered by a supervisor designated by the chief.

Section 6. Results of Drug Screening Tests

Members of the Department will be notified of the results of all screening tests at the earliest appropriate time (to be determined by particular facts and circumstances). Those test results which do not indicate the presence of a drug or alcohol will be sealed and there will be no indication of testing in the member's personnel file.

Any test resulting in a positive report will be referred to the chief of police for an investigation. Upon completion of such investigation, if it is found that a member has used any drug which has not been legally prescribed and/or dispensed, or has abused a legally prescribed drug or has reported for duty under the influence of drugs or alcohol, a report of such shall be prepared. The member against whom such report has been made shall receive a copy of the laboratory test results, and will be immediately suspended from duty, and shall be subject to disciplinary action which may include discharge, except as provided in the section below concerning rehabilitation.

Section 7. Opportunity for Rehabilitation

The opportunity for rehabilitation (rather than discipline) shall be granted once for any member who is not involved in any drug/alcohol related criminal activity and either:

- (a) voluntarily admits to alcohol or drug abuse prior to testing, or
- (b) tests positive in random testing, for the first time.

Any member who voluntarily admits to the chief of police his/her use of or dependence upon illegal drugs or alcohol shall be afforded the opportunity to participate in a mutually acceptable rehabilitation program. The first time a member tests positive for drugs or alcohol in the course of random testing, he/she shall have the same opportunity for rehabilitation as does a member who voluntarily seeks rehabilitation. The opportunity for rehabilitation will only be provided prior to any allegation of impropriety by the public or another member or prior to initiation of an investigation of the member's use or sale of a controlled substance by any competent state local, or federal authority. The member shall use accumulated sick or vacation leave for the period of

absence for the purpose of obtaining treatment. All treatment will be at the sole expense of the member, to the extent not covered by the member's health benefits plan. As part of any rehabilitation program, the member may be required to undergo periodic screening for drugs or alcohol. If, after screening the member has tested positive, he/she will be immediately suspended and will be subject to discharge.

APPENDIX B

TOWN OF COVENTRY POLICE DEPARTMENT

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORMS

- Administrative Sergeant Evaluation
- Sergeant Evaluation
- Detective Evaluation
- Police Officer Evaluation
- Dispatcher Evaluation
- Community Service Officer Evaluation



Coventry Police Department JOB PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

ADMINISTRATIVE SERGEANT

| Employee | Annual Probation | nary P | eriod Co | vered: | |
|---|---|--------|----------|--------|----|
| Supervisor | Specific Duty Assignmen | t | | | |
| Ratings: E = Exceeds Expectations NI = Needs Improvement | ME = Meets Expectat NO = Not Observed | ions | | | |
| I. COMMUNITY ORIENTED POLICING/HUMAI | N RELATIONS | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Treats all persons with respect, avoiding sarcasman b. Communicates effectively with all types of people c. Maintains effective working relationships with condition of the condition of the condition of the community and respect for projects a positive, professional attitude in the dailing. Participates in or organizes community policing and | e/groupsworkers and supervisors and viewpoints of others er mutual by performance of duties ctivities and events | | | | |
| COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use con | nments page. | | | | ļ |
| II. ADMINISTRATIVE DUTIES | | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Manages patrol schedule and ensures adequate fie training and special assignments for patrol staff. b. Works collaboratively with patrol sergeants in sch issues c. Exercises supervision over the detective. Assists v appropriate or necessary. | eduling and training . vith cases and duties when . | | | | |
| d. Supervises the property and evidence control and inspection as required.e. Utilizes a wide variety of resources to develop solving | | | | | |
| f. Willingly provides thoughts and ideas on ways to enforcement services to the community g Conducts planning and research projects or assign h Reviews, coordinates and plans for special events COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use com | ments from chief in town | | | | |

| IV. OTHER PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | | | . " |
|--|--------------|----|----|--|
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Performs field supervisors duties in the absence of a supervisor or when otherwise required. b. Ability to control and coordinate resources at emergency scenes c. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demeanor at emergency scenes d. Tactical abilities (uses sound tactics for personal safety and the safety | | | | |
| of others during routing and /or emergency scenes) | | | | |
| e. Demonstrates proper officer safety techniques / tactics during suspect contacts when necessary f. Participates in policy reviews or recommends policy improvements. g. Organizes routine or special traffic enforcement activities h. Gains effective and prompt control scenes of serious crimes i. Act as liaison for school security matters within the district | | | | |
| j. Conducts school district staff training regarding school security matte | rs \square | П | | |
| k. Conducts or participates in security audits for schools places of worsh | | | | الجا |
| or other facilities as requested. | | | | |
| COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page. | | | | |
| III. PERSONAL CHARACTERIS | TICS | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES E | ME | NI | NO | |
| a. Maintains neat and professional uniform appearance b. Maintains physical fitness as required for work assignment c. Has appropriate knowledge of laws and relevant case decisions | | | | and the second s |
| d. Knowledge of and compliance with laws and agency policies affecting juveniles e. Maintains good attendance. Is punctual in appearing for assignment | | | | |
| f. Properly cares for, uses, and maintenances of assigned and agency equipment g. Uses skills to guide and direct assigned staff h. Good decision making chility was proper discretion and takes | | | | |
| h. Good decision making ability uses proper discretion and takes ownership for decisions i. Counsels and trains officers to improve performance | | | | and the second |
| j. Seeks out or develops new programs or projects to improve agency activities | | | | |

COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page.

| OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING FOR THIS REVIEW PERIOD EXCELLENT MEETS EXPECTATIONS NEEDS IMPROVEMENT |
|--|
| COMMENTS ON OVERALL PERFORMANCE |
| If more than ten lines, please use comments page. |
| OBJECTIVES / EXPECTATIONS FOR NEXT REVIEW PERIOD |
| If more than ten lines, please use comments page. |
| RATERS SIGNATURE DATE |
| |
| EMPLOYEES SIGNATURE DATE ADMINISTRATOR DATE |
| The rate has: Reviewed the results of the evaluation just completed with the employee Reviewed the level of performance expected, rating criteria or goals for the next reporting period Discussed training opportunities with the employee |
| |
| COMMENTS PAGE USE THIS PAGE FOR CONTINUATION OF COMMENTS OR PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES |
| |

A Needs Improvement rating in any category must be explained in the "Comments" Section



Coventry Police Department JOB PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

PATROL SERGEANT

| Employee | | Annual Probatio | nary | Period Co | vered: | |
|--|--|--|-------|-----------|--------|----|
| Supervisor | | Specific Duty Assignmen | ıt | | | |
| Ratings: | E = Exceeds Expectations NI = Needs Improvement | ME = Meets Expecta NO = Not Observed | tions | | | |
| I. COMMUN | ITY ORIENTED POLICING/HUMA | N RELATIONS | | | | |
| PERFORMA | NCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| b. Communica c. Maintains e d. Exhibits sin e. Establishes trust and res | | e/groupsworkers and supervisors and viewpoints of others er mutual | | | | |
| f. Recognizes visible signs of potential criminal activity and takes appropriate steps to correct situations g. Projects a positive, professional attitude in the daily performance of duties h. Participates in or organizes community policing activities and events | | | | | | |
| oversees events organized by assigned officers | | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: | If more than six lines, please use con | nments page. | | | | |
| II. PROBLEM | M SOLVING / FIELD ACTIVITIES | <u> </u> | | | | |
| PERFORMAI | NCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Maintains k | nowledge of problems and potential p | atterns within assigned | | | | |
| b. Remains inf | formed of crime information both locate information with other officers as ap | | | | | |
| | a wide variety of resources to develop | | | Ī | , [] | |
| e. Recognizes f. Maintains ac crime levels | and utilizes enforcement as a problem ceptable and productive levels of field | d activity that impact | | | | |
| enforcement h Efficiently | rovides thoughts and ideas on ways to t services to the community conducts and completes projects or ass If more than six lines, please use con | signments from chief | | | | |

| III. PERSONAL CHARACTERISTICS | | | | | |
|---|---|----|----|----|----|
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | E | ME | NI | NO | |
| a. Maintains neat and professional uniform appearance b. Maintains physical fitness as required for work assignment c. Has appropriate knowledge of laws and relevant case decisions | | | | | |
| d. Knowledge of and compliance with laws and agency policies affecting juveniles e. Maintains good attendance. Is punctual in appearing for assignment f. Properly cares for, uses, and maintenances of assigned and | | | | | |
| agency equipment g. Uses skills to guide and direct assigned staff h. Good decision making ability uses proper discretion and takes | | | | | |
| ownership for decisions i. Counsels and trains officers to improve performance j. Seeks out or develops new programs or projects to | | | | | |
| improve agency activities | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page. | | | | | |
| V. CALLS FOR SERVICE/FIELD PERFORMANCE | | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Conducts reviews and critique of officer's reports b. Responds to calls for service where a supervisor is needed c. Ability to control and coordinate resources at emergency scenes d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demeanor at emergency scene e. Tactical abilities (uses sound tactics for personal safety and the safety of others during routing and /or emergency scenes) f. Demonstrates proper officer safety techniques / tactics during | | | | | |
| suspect contacts when necessary g. Uses sound judgement in reviewing use of force or pursuits h. Encourages staff development of assigned officers i. Participates in policy reviews or recommends policy improvements. j. Conducts regular roll call training k. Organizes routine or special traffic enforcement activities l. Gains effective and prompt control scenes of serious crimes m. Appropriately uses time to supervise assigned staff. | | | | | |

COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page.

| | OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING FOR THIS REVIEW PERIOD |
|----------------|---|
| EXCELLEN' | Γ ☐ MEETS EXPECTATIONS ☐ NEEDS IMPROVEMENT |
| | COMMENTS ON OVERALL PERFORMANCE |
| If more than | ten lines, please use comments page. |
| | OBJECTIVES / EXPECTATIONS FOR NEXT REVIEW PERIOD |
| If more than | ten lines, please use comments page. |
| | |
| RATERS SIGNAT | JRE DATE |
| | |
| EMPLOYEES SIGI | NATURE DATE ADMINISTRATOR DATE |
| The rate has: | Reviewed the results of the evaluation just completed with the employee Reviewed the level of performance expected, rating criteria or goals for the next reporting period Discussed training opportunities with the employee |
| | COMMENTS PAGE USE THIS PAGE FOR CONTINUATION OF COMMENTS OR PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES |
| | |

A Needs Improvement rating in any category must be explained in the "Comments" Section



Coventry Police Department JOB PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

DETECTIVE

| Employee | Annual Probatio | nary 1 | Period Co | vered: | |
|--|---|--------|-----------|--------|----|
| Supervisor | Specific Duty Assignmen | ıt | | | |
| Ratings: E = Exceeds Expectations NI = Needs Improvement | ME = Meets Expecta NO = Not Observed | tions | | | |
| I. COMMUNITY ORIENTED POLICING/HUM | AN KELATIONS | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Treats all persons with respect, avoiding sarcast b. Communicates effectively with all types of peo c. Maintains effective working relationships with d. Exhibits sincere interest / concern for problems | ple/groups co-workers and supervisors and viewpoints of others | | | | |
| e. Establishes contacts within the community to foster mutual trust and respect f. Projects a positive, professional attitude in the daily performance of duties g. Participates in community policing activities and events as assigned | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use c | omments page. | 1 | | | |
| II. CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS | | | | | |
| II. CRIMINAL MYESTIGATIONS | | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES a. Conducts professional and thorough criminal in law, agency policy and best practices b. Skillfully interviews victims and witnesses with | compassion | E | ME | NI | NO |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES a. Conducts professional and thorough criminal in law, agency policy and best practices b. Skillfully interviews victims and witnesses with c. Effectively interrogates suspects and obtains interiminal activity d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demendence of the exhibit calm and case law g. Exercises proper care and control of arrestees and h. Prepares clear, concise, and accurate reports for | a compassion formation about anor at emergency scenes to policy and best practices and those in lockup department and court use | E | ME | NI | NO |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES a. Conducts professional and thorough criminal in law, agency policy and best practices b. Skillfully interviews victims and witnesses with c. Effectively interrogates suspects and obtains interiminal activity d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demense. Ability to perform crime scene duties according f. Knowledge of criminal law and case law g. Exercises proper care and control of arrestees and h. Prepares clear, concise, and accurate reports for i. Uses proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation the lack of report corrections. Writes complete necessary information/elements | a compassion formation about anor at emergency scenes to policy and best practices and those in lockup department and court use in reports as exhibited by reports, includes all | E | ME | NI | NO |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES a. Conducts professional and thorough criminal in law, agency policy and best practices b. Skillfully interviews victims and witnesses with c. Effectively interrogates suspects and obtains interiminal activity d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate deme. e. Ability to perform crime scene duties according f. Knowledge of criminal law and case law g. Exercises proper care and control of arrestees as h. Prepares clear, concise, and accurate reports for i. Uses proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation the lack of report corrections. Writes complete | a compassion formation about anor at emergency scenes to policy and best practices and those in lockup department and court use in reports as exhibited by reports, includes all | E | ME | NI | NO |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES a. Conducts professional and thorough criminal in law, agency policy and best practices b. Skillfully interviews victims and witnesses with c. Effectively interrogates suspects and obtains interiminal activity d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demendent of the exhibit to perform crime scene duties according for the knowledge of criminal law and case law go a Exercises proper care and control of arrestees at h. Prepares clear, concise, and accurate reports for i. Uses proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation the lack of report corrections. Writes complete necessary information/elements j. Effectively applies for search warrants and arrest to assigned investigations k. Conducts research and maintains knowledge of Disseminates crime information to other agency | a compassion formation about anor at emergency scenes to policy and best practices and those in lockup department and court use in reports as exhibited by reports, includes all st warrants in relation crime patterns and trends. members as appropriate. | E | ME | NI | NO |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES a. Conducts professional and thorough criminal in law, agency policy and best practices b. Skillfully interviews victims and witnesses with c. Effectively interrogates suspects and obtains interiminal activity d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demender. Ability to perform crime scene duties according f. Knowledge of criminal law and case law g. Exercises proper care and control of arrestees and h. Prepares clear, concise, and accurate reports for i. Uses proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation the lack of report corrections. Writes complete necessary information/elements j. Effectively applies for search warrants and arrest to assigned investigations k. Conducts research and maintains knowledge of | a compassion formation about anor at emergency scenes to policy and best practices and those in lockup department and court use in reports as exhibited by reports, includes all st warrants in relation crime patterns and trends. members as appropriate. | | ME | NI | NO |

- 47 -

| III. PROPERTY AND EVIDENCE FUNCTION | | | | | |
|---|--------|----|------|----|----|
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Processes and stores evidence collected during criminal investigationb. Processes and stores found property for later dispositions | | | | | |
| c. Files proper court papers regarding disposition of property and evide d. Ensures that all items of property are entered into agency records | nce | | | | |
| e. Maintains the property and evidence storage areas in a neat and orderly manner f. Disposes of property within six months after all legal requirements are | | | | | |
| Ensures materials for evidence testing and storage are available. Re-orde items when necessary. | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page. | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| IV. PERSONAL CHARACTI | ERISTI | CS | **** | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | E | ME | NI | NO | |
| a. Maintains neat and professional appearance c. Has appropriate knowledge of laws and relevant case decisions d. Knowledge of and compliance with laws and agency policies | | | | | |
| pertaining to criminal investigations juveniles d. Maintains good attendance. Is punctual in appearing for assignment | | | | | |
| e. Properly cares for, uses, and maintenances of assigned and agency equipment f. Uses good time management in investigating multiple cases | | | | | |
| g. Good decision making ability uses proper discretion and takes ownership for decisions h. Uses good communication skills i. Displays enthusiasm and interest in serving the community | | | | | |
| i. Displays chands and microst in serving the confittinity | Ш | LJ | | Ш | |

COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page.

| | OURDAYL REPERDIMANCE BARRING FOR BUILD REPRIND |
|------------------|--|
| | OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING FOR THIS REVIEW PERIOD |
| EXCELLENT | ☐ MEETS EXPECTATIONS ☐ NEEDS IMPROVEMENT |
| | COMMENTS ON OVERALL PERFORMANCE |
| If more than ter | n lines, please use comments page. |
| | OBJECTIVES / EXPECTATIONS FOR NEXT REVIEW PERIOD |
| If more than ter | n lines, please use comments page. |
| | |
| RATERS SIGNATUR | E DATE |
| | |
| | |
| EMPLOYEES SIGNA | TURE DATE ADMINISTRATOR DATE |
| | Reviewed the results of the evaluation just completed with the employee Reviewed the level of performance expected, |
| | Rating criteria or goals for the next reporting period |
| | Discussed training opportunities with the employee |
| | |
| | |
| | COMMENTS PAGE USE THIS PAGE FOR CONTINUATION OF COMMENTS OR PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES |
| • | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

A Needs Improvement rating in any category must be explained in the comments Section $\,$



Coventry Police Department JOB PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

PATROL OFFICER

| Employee Choose an item. | Annual Probatio | nary F | Period Co | vered; | |
|---|--|--------|-----------|--------|----|
| Supervisor Specific Duty Assignment Choose an item. | | | | | |
| Ratings: E = Exceeds Expectations ME = Meets Expectations NI = Needs Improvement NO = Not Observed | | | | | |
| I. COMMUNITY ORIENTED POLICING/HUMAN | N RELATIONS | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Treats all persons with respect, avoiding sarcasm a b. Communicates effectively with all types of people c. Maintains effective working relationships with co- d. Exhibits sincere interest / concern for problems an e. Establishes contacts within the community to foste trust and respect | e/groups workers and supervisors d viewpoints of others er mutual | | | | |
| f. Recognizes visible signs of potential criminal activity and takes appropriate steps to correct situations g. Projects a positive, professional attitude in the daily performance of duties h. Participates in community policing activities and events. COMMENTS: | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| II. PROBLEM SOLVING / FIELD ACTIVITIES | | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| Maintains knowledge of problems and potential paarea | tterns within assigned | | | | |
| b. Remains informed of crime information both locally and regionally.c. Shares crime information with other officers as appropriate. | | | | | |
| d. Utilizes a wide variety of resources to develop solving | strategies for problem | | | | |
| e. Recognizes and utilizes enforcement as a problem solving tool f. Maintains acceptable and productive levels of field activity that impact crime levels g. Willingly provides thoughts and ideas on ways to improve law enforcement services to the community | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: | | | | | |

- 50 -

| III. PERSONAL CHARACTERISTICS | | | | | |
|--|-----|----|----|----|----|
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | E | ME | NI | NO | |
| a. Maintains neat and professional uniform appearance b. Maintains physical fitness as required for work assignment c. Has appropriate knowledge of laws and relevant case decisions | | | | | |
| d. Knowledge of and compliance with laws and agency policies affecting juveniles e. Maintains good attendance. Is punctual in appearing for assignment | | | | | |
| f. Properly cares for, uses, and maintenances of assigned and agency equipment g. Uses good time management | | | | | |
| (response to calls / return to "in-service" status) h. Good decision making ability uses proper discretion and takes | | | | | |
| ownership for decisions i. Uses good communication skills (radio demeanor) j. Displays enthusiasm and interest in serving the community | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: | | | | | |
| VI. CALLS FOR SERVICE/FIELD PERFORMANCE | | | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Proper vehicle operation skills (routine calls for service) b. Proper vehicle operation skills (emergency calls for service) c. Ability to control and coordinate resources at emergency scenes d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demeanor at emergency scene e. Tactical abilities (uses sound tactics for personal safety and the safety of others during routing and /or emergency scenes) | | | | | |
| f. Demonstrates proper officer safety techniques / tactics during suspect contacts when necessary g. Exercises proper care and control of arrestees and those in lockup | | | | | |
| h. Uses productive case investigation techniques (including preservation of evidence) i. Conducts proper case follow investigations j. Prepares clear, concise, and accurate reports for department and court k. Uses proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation in reports as exhibite | | | | | |
| the lack of report corrections. Writes complete reports, includes all necessary information/elements I. Conducts effective traffic enforcement and treats motorists with respe m. Gains effective and prompt control at traffic collision scenes n. Appropriately uses uncommitted patrol time to conduct routing and | ect | | | | |
| targeted patrol | | | | | |

COMMENTS:

| | OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING FOR THIS RE | VIEW PERIOD |
|-------------------|--|-----------------------|
| EXCELLENT | ☐ MEETS EXPECTATIONS ☐ NEEDS IM | IPROVEMENT |
| | COMMENTS ON OVERALL PERFOR | MANCE |
| | OBJECTIVES / EXPECTATIONS FOR NEXT REVI | EW PERIOD |
| RATERS SIGNATURE | DATE | |
| EMPLOYEES SIGNATU | JRE DATE CHIEFS APPROVAL D | ATE |
| Re rat | eviewed the results of the evaluation just completed with eviewed the level of performance expected, ting criteria or goals for the next reporting period scussed training opportunities with the employee | |
| | COMMENTS PAGE USE THIS PAGE FOR CONTINUATION OF COMMENTS OR PE | ERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES |

A Needs Improvement rating in any category must be explained in the comments Section



Coventry Police Department JOB PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

PATROL OFFICER

| r | | <u></u> | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
|---|--|---|-----------|---------------------------------------|--------|----|
| Employee Choose an item. | | Annual Probation | onary F | Period Co | vered: | |
| Supervisor | | Specific Duty Assignme | n1 | | | |
| Choose an item. | | Specific Duty Assignme | 116 | | | |
| *** | E = Exceeds Expectations NI = Needs Improvement | ME = Meets Expecta NO = Not Observed | ntions | | | |
| I. COMMUNIT | TY ORIENTED POLICING/HUMAN | RELATIONS | | | | |
| PERFORMAN | CE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| b. Communicatc. Maintains effd. Exhibits since. Establishes ctrust and resp | | /groups workers and supervisors d viewpoints of others or mutual | | | | |
| steps to corre g. Projects a po | isible signs of potential criminal activect situations sitive, professional attitude in the dail n community policing activities and e | y performance of duties | | | | |
| | | | | | | : |
| II. PROBLEM | SOLVING / FIELD ACTIVITIES | | | | | |
| PERFORMAN | CE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Maintains kn | owledge of problems and potential pa | tterns within assigned | | | | |
| b. Remains info | ormed of crime information both local information with other officers as app | | | | | |
| | wide variety of resources to develop | * | | | | |
| solving | | | | | | |
| | nd utilizes enforcement as a problem septable and productive levels of field | | | | | |
| g. Willingly pro | ovides thoughts and ideas on ways to i services to the community | mprove law | | | | |
| COMMENTS: | | | . | | | |

| III. PERSONAL CHARACTI | ERISTIC | CS | | | | |
|---|---------|----|----|----|----|-----------|
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | E | ME | NI | NO | | |
| a. Maintains neat and professional uniform appearance b. Maintains physical fitness as required for work assignment c. Has appropriate knowledge of laws and relevant case decisions d. Knowledge of and approlling a with laws and appropriate in the second | | | | | | |
| d. Knowledge of and compliance with laws and agency policies affecting juveniles e. Maintains good attendance. Is punctual in appearing for assignment | | | | | | |
| f. Properly cares for, uses, and maintenances of assigned and agency equipmentg. Uses good time management | | | | | | |
| (response to calls / return to "in-service" status)h. Good decision making ability uses proper discretion and takes | | | | | | |
| ownership for decisions i. Uses good communication skills (radio demeanor) j. Displays enthusiasm and interest in serving the community | | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: | | | | | | |
| VII. CALLS FOR SERVICE/FIELD PERFORMANCE | | | , | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES a. Proper vehicle operation skills (routine calls for service) b. Proper vehicle operation skills (emergency calls for service) c. Ability to control and coordinate resources at emergency scenes d. Ability to exhibit calm, tactful, deliberate demeanor at emergency sce e. Tactical abilities (uses sound tactics for personal safety and the safety of others during routing and /or emergency scenes) f. Demonstrates proper officer safety techniques / tactics during suspect contacts when necessary g. Exercises proper care and control of arrestees and those in lockup h. Uses productive case investigation techniques (including preservation of evidence) i. Conducts proper case follow investigations j. Prepares clear, concise, and accurate reports for department and court k. Uses proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation in reports as exhibite | use | | ME | | NO | |
| the lack of report corrections. Writes complete reports, includes all necessary information/elements I. Conducts effective traffic enforcement and treats motorists with resperm. Gains effective and prompt control at traffic collision scenes n. Appropriately uses uncommitted patrol time to conduct routing and targeted patrol | | | | | | 119900-11 |

COMMENTS:

| EXCELLENT | OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING FOR THIS REVIEW PERIOD T MEETS EXPECTATIONS NEEDS IMPROVEMENT |
|----------------|---|
| | COMMENTS ON OVERALL PERFORMANCE |
| | OBJECTIVES / EXPECTATIONS FOR NEXT REVIEW PERIOD |
| RATERS SIGNATU | URE DATE |
| EMPLOYEES SIGN | NATURE DATE CHIEFS APPROVAL DATE |
| The rate has: | Reviewed the results of the evaluation just completed with the employee Reviewed the level of performance expected, rating criteria or goals for the next reporting period Discussed training opportunities with the employee |
| | COMMENTS PAGE USE THIS PAGE FOR CONTINUATION OF COMMENTS OR PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES |

A Needs Improvement rating in any category must be explained in the comments Section $\,$



Coventry Police Department JOB PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

COMMUNITY SERVICE OFFICER

| Employee | | Annual Probation | onary | Period Co | vered: | |
|---|--|---|--------|-----------|--------|----|
| Supervisor | | Specific Duty Assignment | nt | ***** | | |
| Ratings: | E = Exceeds Expectations NI = Needs Improvement | ME = Meets Expecta NO = Not Observed | ations | | | |
| I. COMMU | NITY ORIENTED POLICING/HUM/ | AN RELATIONS | | | | |
| PERFORM | ANCE MEASURES | | E | ΜE | NI | NO |
| b. Communic. Maintainsd. Exhibits se. Projects a | persons with respect, avoiding sarcasm cates effectively with all types of peop effective working relationships with c incere interest / concern for problems a positive, professional attitude in the da none calls in a timely manner | le/groups o-workers and supervisors and viewpoints of others | | | | |
| COMMENTS | S: If more than six lines, please use co | mments page. | | | | |
| II. ANIMAI | L CONTROL DUTIES | | | | | |
| | ANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| return anir b. Responds | es cases of lost or roaming dogs. Attemnal to owner(s). in a timely manner to reports of injured appropriate measures | | | | | |
| | in a timely manner to reports of injure | d wild animals | | | | |
| d, Effectively and ordinae. Prepares cf. Uses propose | appropriate measures y conducts investigations of persons vi inces. Conducts interviews and takes re lear, concise, and accurate reports for of er grammar, spelling, and punctuation | eports as necessary. department and court use in reports as exhibited by | | | | |
| necessary | report corrections. Writes complete rainformation/elements numb sufficient numb | | | | | |
| a higher fu | inding percentage | <u> </u> | | | | |
| i. Collects fe j. Takes appr | es with the Vernon ACO and Vernon p the pound ses for impounded animals pursuant to copriate enforcement action for animal as dog bites and take appropriate follow | law. violations | | | | |

COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page.

- 56 -

| III. COMMUNITY SERVICE DUTIES | | | | | |
|--|---------------|----|----|----|----|
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | | E | ME | NI | NO |
| a. Effectively performs fingerprinting services for applicants b. Greets people in a timely manner and treats them with professionalis c. Understands and complies with submission requirements for fingerprint d. Assists officers with duties when assigned or requested e. Transports property or evidence to lab facility when requested. f. Assists with traffic control at incident scenes when requested by office g. Efficiently takes reports over the phone when assigned by a supervisor requested by dispatch. h. Assists with dispatch duties when assigned by a supervisor. | rints cers | | | | |
| COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page. | | | | | |
| IV. PERSONAL CHARACTI | ERISTI | CS | | | |
| PERFORMANCE MEASURES | E | ME | NI | NO | |
| a. Maintains neat and professional appearance c. Has appropriate knowledge of laws pertaining to animal control | | | | | |
| d. Knowledge of and compliance with laws and agency policies pertaining to community service officer dutiesd. Maintains good attendance. Is punctual in appearing for assignment | | | | | |
| e Properly cares for uses and maintenances of assigned and | _ | | ш | _ | |
| e. Properly cares for, uses, and maintenances of assigned and agency equipment f. Uses good time management in investigating multiple cases g. Good decision making ability uses proper discretion and takes | | | | | |
| agency equipment | | | | | |

COMMENTS: If more than six lines, please use comments page.

| Γ | |
|----------------|---|
| | OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING FOR THIS REVIEW PERIOD |
| EXCELLENT | Γ MEETS EXPECTATIONS NEEDS IMPROVEMENT |
| | COMMENTS ON OVERALL PERFORMANCE |
| If more than t | ten lines, please use comments page. |
| | OBJECTIVES / EXPECTATIONS FOR NEXT REVIEW PERIOD |
| If more than t | ten lines, please use comments page. |
| RATERS SIGNATU | JRE DATE |
| | |
| | |
| EMPLOYEES SIGN | NATURE DATE ADMINISTRATOR DATE |
| The rate has: | Reviewed the results of the evaluation just completed with the employee Reviewed the level of performance expected, rating criteria or goals for the next reporting period Discussed training opportunities with the employee |
| | |
| | COMMENTS PAGE USE THIS PAGE FOR CONTINUATION OF COMMENTS OR PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES |
| | |
| | |
| | |

A Needs Improvement rating in any category must be explained in the "Comments" Section

APPENDIX C

TOWN OF COVENTRY

AND

UE LOCAL 222, CIPU, LOCAL #16 PENSION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made by and between the Town of Coventry ("Town") and UE Local 222, CIPU, Local #16 ("Union") in full settlement of the pension re-opener provided in Article IX, Sections 9.2 and 9.3 of the collective bargaining agreement dated July 1, 2003 through June 30, 2007.

The Town and the Union hereby agree to the following changes in the Town of Coventry Pension Plan as such Plan applies to bargaining unit employees:

- 1. Changes to Benefits of Existing Sworn Officers Hired Prior To The Signing Of This Pension Agreement.
 - a. Revised Definition of "Average Monthly Earnings."

The definition of "Average Monthly Earnings" of Article II shall be revised to increase the amount of regular overtime pay considered as "Average Monthly Earnings" from twelve percent (12 %) to nineteen percent (19%).

The base period utilized for calculation of "Average Monthly Earnings" shall be the Sworn Officer's highest compensated five years."

b. Sworn Officer Employee Contributions.

Article IV, Section 4.3 (or other appropriate section of the Pension Plan) shall be amended to add the following provision:

"Effective upon signing, a Sworn Officer, other than the chief of police, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to five and one-half percent (5.5%) of his gross compensation, excluding special duty wages, received from the Employee. Effective July 1, 2008, a Sworn Officer, other than the chief of police, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to six and one-half percent (6.5%) of his gross compensation, excluding special duty wages, received from the Employee. Effective July 1, 2009, a Sworn Officer, other than the chief of police, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to seven percent (7.0%) of his gross compensation, excluding special duty wages-, received from the Employee.

There shall be no employee contributions on severance payments made pursuant to Sections 10.2 and 11.1 of the collective bargaining agreement between the Town and the Union."

c. Additional Norma! Retirement Date for Swam Officers.

Article V, Section 5.1 of the Plan shall be revised to provide for normal retirement date of age 45 and twenty (20) years of service.

d. Sick Leave Exchange Option.

Effective upon execution of this Pension Agreement and continuing only through December 31, 2009, a temporary pension incentive program will be offered to Sworn Officers electing to retire during this period. Under this temporary program, accumulated but unused sick leave at time of retirement may be included in the calculation of time worked, for pension purposes only, in lieu of pay-out under the normal terms of the contract. Under this temporary incentive program each accumulated, but unused sick leave day, shall be credited as three (3) days worked up to a maximum of one year (260 work days). This temporary program shall not modify any other terms or conditions of the pension plan.

2. <u>Changes to Benefits of New Sworn Officers Hired On Or After The Signing Of This Pension Agreement.</u>

a. Hybrid Pension Benefits.

Sworn Officers hired on or after the signing of this Pension Agreement shall be eligible for hybrid pension benefits including (1) participation in the Town of Coventry Pension Plan with modified benefits as set forth below and (2) participation in a defined contribution plan as set forth below.

(1) Defined Benefit Pension Plan.

Sworn Officers hired on or after the signing of this Pension Agreement shall be eligible for a retirement benefit under the Town of Coventry Pension Plan as modified herein. Such retirement benefit shall be calculated by multiplying one and one- half percent (1.5%) of the Sworn Officer's "Average Monthly Earnings" by the Sworn Officer's years of credited service.

Such Sworn Officer's benefit shall be subject to all other generally applicable provisions of the Pension Plan including but not limited to the provisions relating to Normal Retirement Date (as modified herein).

Sworn Officers hired on or after the signing of this Pension Agreement shall be required to make the following employee contributions

"Effective upon signing, a Sworn Officer hired on or after the signing of this Agreement, other than the chief of police, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to five and one-half percent (5.5%) of his gross compensation, excluding special duty wages, received from the Employee. Effective July 1, 2008, a Sworn Officer, other than the chief of police, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to five and one-half percent (6.5%) of his gross compensation, excluding special duty wages, received from the Employee. Effective July 1, 2009, a Sworn Officer, other than the chief of police, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to seven percent (7.0%) of his gross compensation, excluding special duty wages, received from the Employee."

There shall be no employee contributions on severance payments made pursuant to Sections 10.2 and 11.1 of the collective bargaining agreement between the Town and the Union."

(2) Defined Contribution Plan.

In addition to their participation in the Town of Coventry Pension Plan as modified above, sworn officers hired on or after the signing of this Pension Agreement shall be eligible to participate in a defined contribution retirement plan established by the Town.

The Town shall contribute to the qualified account of each Sworn Officer hired on or after the signing of this Pension Agreement an amount equal to four percent (4%) of such participant's salary. For purposes of this section, "salary" shall be defined in the same manner as "Average Monthly Earnings" is defined for Sworn Employees under the Defined Benefit Pension Plan, namely, compensation including college incentives, regular overtime subject to the limitations set f01ih above (i.e. not to exceed 19%), longevity pay and holiday pay but excluding special duty wages.

3. <u>Changes to Benefits of Existing Non-Sworn Employees Hired On Or After The Signing Of This Pension Agreement.</u>

a. Non-Sworn Employee Contributions.

A new provision shall be added to Article IV of the Pension Plan regarding to reflect the following employee contributions for Non-Sworn Employees:

Effective upon signing, a Non-Sworn Employee of the Pension Plan eligible to participate in the Pension Plan, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to one percent (1.0%) of his gross compensation, received from the Employer. Effective July 1, 2008, a Non-Sworn Employee of the Pension Plan eligible to participate in the Pension Plan, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to two percent (2.0%) of his gross compensation, received from the Employer. Effective July 1, 2009, a Non-Sworn Employee of the Pension Plan eligible to participate in the Pension Plan, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to three percent (3.0 %) of his gross compensation, received from the Employer. Effective July 1, 2010, a Non-Sworn Employee of the Pension Plan eligible to participate in the Pension Plan, shall be required as a condition of participation in the Plan, to contribute to the Plan, an amount equal to four percent (4, 0%) of his gross compensation, received from the Employer.

c. Additional Norma! Retirement Date for Non-Sworn Employees.

Article V, Section 5.1 of the Plan shall be revised to provide for normal retirement date based on the Rule of 85.

d. Sick Leave Exchange Option.

Effective upon execution of this Pension Agreement and continuing only through December 31, 2009, a temporary pension incentive program will be offered to Non-Sworn Employees electing to retire during this period. Under this temporary program, accumulated but unused sick leave at time of retirement may be included in the calculation of time worked, for pension purposes only, in lieu of pay-out under the normal terms of the contract. Under this temporary incentive program each accumulated, but unused sick leave day, shall be credited as three (3) days worked up to a maximum of one year (260 work days). This temporary program shall not modify any other terms or conditions of the pension plan.

- 4. <u>Changes to Benefits of New Non-Sworn Employees Hired On Or After The Signing Of This Pension Agreement.</u>
 - a. Defined Contribution Plan In Lieu of Defined Benefit Plan

Non-Sworn Employees hired on or after the signing of this Pension Agreement shall be ineligible to participate in the Town of Coventry (Defined Benefit) Pension Plan. In lieu of participation in such defined benefit pension plan, Non-Sworn Employees hired on or after the signing of this Pension Agreement shall be eligible to participate in a defined contribution retirement plan established by the Town. The Town shall contribute to the qualified account of each Non-Sworn Employee hired on or

after the signing of this Pension Agreement an amount equal to seven percent (7 %) of such participant's salary. For purposes of this section, "salary" shall be defined in the same manner as "Average Monthly Earnings" is defined for Non-Sworn Employees under the Defined Benefit Pension Plan, namely, compensation including overtime and longevity pay but excluding bonuses and other amounts identified by the Town as payment toward business expenses incurred by the participant without direct reimbursement. As a condition of participation in such defined contribution retirement plan, each Non-Sworn Employee participating in such plan shall be required to contribute four percent (4 %) of his salary.

- 5. Administrative Changes to the Town of Coventry Pension Plan Affecting All Participating Employees of the Police Department.
 - a. Elimination of Separate Investment Accounts.

The Town and Union agree to eliminate the separate investment account applicable to police department employees and benefits. Instead, such account shall be consolidated for administrative and investment purposes with all other Town accounts consistent with applicable requirements.

b. Failure to Elect Benefit - Normal Form of Benefit Awarded.

The Town and the Union agree that any participating employee of the Police Department (Sworn or Non-Sworn) who fails to elect a "form of benefit" at the time of retirement when asked to do so by the Administrator of the Plan shall be awarded the normal form of retirement benefit set forth in Section 7.1

This Agreement supersedes the Article IX, Sections 9.2 and 9.3 of the collective bargaining agreement between the Town and the Union dated July 1, 2003 through June 30, 2007. Any other provision of such current or future collective bargaining agreement notwithstanding, this Agreement shall remain in effect through June 30, 2012. Neither the Town nor the Union shall request negotiations over pension changes to be effective prior to July 1, 2012.

| 1 | TE | ĭ | Λ | CA | T | 222 | CIPU. | T | OCA | λT. | 1 | 6 |
|---|-----|---|----|-------|---|------|-------|---|--------|---------------------|---|---|
| - | UP. | | ι, | . / 1 | | 444. | CIFU. | | л п. н | 1 I <i>i</i> | | u |

TOWN OF COVENTRY

| Ву: | By: |
|----------------------|------------------|
| David Cohen | John A. Elsesser |
| Staff Representative | Town Manager |

APPENDIXD

SUMMARY OF HEALTH INSURANCE PLANS

Town of Coventry-Police and Public Works: 2019-2020 Benefit Offerings

| | PLAN1-0ABI3 | ABIS | TEAN THEFT | 315-HTI RP | PLAX 3-ECHIP Commo | PLAX 3-ECHIP Common | PLAN 4-ECHIP HDHI | HOH. |
|--|--|--------------------------------|---|-----------------------|--|---|---|---|
| BEVEETTS | Traditional Copar Plan \$30 Office Copar 6500 Plantice Copar | opay Plan Copay | \$2,000.54,000 HSA \$2,000.54,000 Deducible | 000 HSA Deduccible | ECHIP Common Plan \$1,000(SZ)000 Deductible | ECHIP Common Plan 1,000/S2,000 Deductible | \$2,000(S4,000 ESA ECHIP Common Plan \$2,000(S4,000 DeducEble | \$2,006/\$4,000 BSA ECHIF Common Plan 2,006/\$4,000 Deducéble |
| | \$10/25/40 Rz | 0 Kr | round merstrans arter Deductible 'So Copay for Rx after Deductible | Aiter Deductible | SAU UTHE LOPAY Hospital Shiject to Ded SE(10:40 Rx | e Copay iject to Ded 40 Rx | 100% In-Networl 58:20 | 100% In-Network After Deductible \$520/40.Rx |
| | IN-NETWORK | OUT-OF- NEITHORK | DY-NEIWORK | OUT-OF. NEIWORK | IN-NETWORK | OUT-OF- NEIWORK | IN-NEIWORK | OUT-OE- NETWORK |
| Ceductible Contrarance | Note | \$200/\$400/\$500 | \$2,660/\$4,000 | \$1,000.54,000 | \$1,060.\$2,608 | \$4,630/\$1,000 | \$2,000,84,009 | \$2,000.54,000 |
| Cost State Maximum | 511,700 | OCTEMBRITON OFFE | NATIONAL DOD | \$4.000% 063 | \$4,000% | 2015/00 CIS | LVVS. | 2007/08 2007/08 |
| Maximim Lifering Benefit Per Member | Unimited | Unlimited | Callanad | Unlimited | Unimited | Uningited | Unlimited | Unlimited |
| Catekgeber Network SDF PENDENT TRATING ACE | No 25 | No Ye | 98. | No. | 740 | No | No No | No |
| PRICE LANGE CARE | 2 | | 200 | 0,5 | | 22.7 | 7.0 | 65 |
| Well Child Care, includes frammizations | No charge | Ded. & Coins. | Ne charge | Ded & Cons. | No charge | Ded. & Coins. | No charge | Ded. & Cons. |
| Penotic Routine Beath Examinations Routine OB GWS wate | No charge No rharsa | Ded. & Coins. Ded. & Coins. | No charge | Ded. Pr Opas. | No charge | Ded & Coins. | No charge | DE4 R Con. |
| Nammographys | No charse | Ded. & Cains. | No charge | Ded. & Cons. | No charge | Del & Collis | No charge | Ded in Cold |
| Hearing screening | \$30 cocar | Ded. & Cains. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. | \$30 capar | Ded & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded & Cons |
| NIEDICAL CARE Office Visits - Drimacy Care | 230 CO. 320 | Task Se Carin | Cubierr 19 Ded | المولاد المولاد | 730 vaname. | i i c | 2 - C | í, |
| Office Wight Naschillar | Sale const | Dad to Calle | Cabier to Ties | Dad & Coms. | 220 0000 | Det s Collis. | Suggest to Ded. | Det 25 Cold. |
| Outpatient Mental Health Visits | 530 capax | Ded to Colle | Subvect to Dec. | | 230 capar | Ded & Coins | Subject to Dec. | |
| ೦ವ.೧೩೫ ೧೩№ | \$30 copay | Ded. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. | 530 copay | Det. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. |
| Mathematy Cura Continue with again no charge moraphety | 530 capay | Ded. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | | 150 copay | Ded. & Com: | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. |
| Carnotte Lab | No charge | Ded. & Ceins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. R Cons. | Ded & Coins. | Ded & Coins, | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. |
| High Con Quantien Diseasing (CLI), 257, 1057 | No charge | Ver Rolling | Subject to Ded | Ded. R Cons. | | Ded of Coins | Subject to Dec. | Ded. W. Cotts. Ded. w. Cotts. |
| Allergy services - Office Visits | \$30 capay | Ded. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded, & Cons. | \$30 capav | Ded & Colus. | Subsect to Ded | Ded. & Cons |
| Allergy services - Testing | S30 copay | Ded, & Ceins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. | \$30 capar | 25 | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cops. |
| Atteres services - injections | No charge | Ded. & Crins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. | No tharse | Ded & Coins | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cores |
| Semi-Private Hospital Room Admission | S500 coder | Ded & Coins | Subtract to Dec | Dad & One | Tied & China | Table Assets | Carlinger to Day | (- (- (- |
| Inpatient Mental Health and Substance Abuse | \$500 copay | Ded. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. | Ded. & Coffee. | Ded & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. 28 Cont. |
| Skilled Nursing Facility (up to 150 days per cai year. | No charge | Ded. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. | Ded. & Coins. | Ded & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cops. |
| Caba Call and the September 1987 for the Sept | No charge | Ded. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded & Crass. | Ded. & Coms. | Ded & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. |
| Chipathan an gary for a magazin. Ambidaton Surgery coffer than souths acres e | ASSOCIATION ASSOCI | | Subject to Dec. | 12.60 R Cens. | Dep se Celle. | Ded to Colles. | Subject to Ded. | |
| EMERCENCY CARE: | | | | | 3 | Comp. | 70 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C | Deg. & C63 |
| Walk-In Centers | \$50 capay | SSU cepay | Subject to Ded. | Same as In-Network | Ded. & Coins. | Same as In-Network | Subject to Ded. | Same as in-Natural |
| et margency. Care (regenerates annes d'administra | \$75 copay | \$75 copay | Subject to Ded. | Same as In-Nerwork | Dec. & Come. | Same as In-Network | Subject to Ded. | Same as in-Nerwork |
| COUNTY HEAT THE CARE. | 120 CHIEF SE | 35 777 341 | SHOPETION DEG. | Same as in-servery | Uga, & Coms. | Saffe is in-refivors | Suthert to Dec. | Same as in-Nerwork |
| PLOISI and Chiro 50 unit man samusity; | No Charge | Ded. & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded. & Cons. | Ded. & Coins. | Ded & Coins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded & Cons |
| Curatis Medical Equipment scalinging state. | No charge | Ded & Crins. | Subject to Ded. | Ded & Cons. | Dad & County | | Subject to Dad. | 34 |
| PRESCRIPTION DRUGS: | Francisco | veu es centra. | 3.00.501.10 (2.50) | Cea, Kr. Coas | Ugo, St. Comb. | Det & Coms. | Subsect to 22ed. | Ded & Cons |
| Severic Tier I Drugs | S10 capay | Ded. & Ceins. | No Copay after Ded | Ded. & Cons. | SS copay | Ded & Coms. | \$5 copar | Ded & Cons. |
| Lined Brand Tier 2 Drugs | \$25 copay | Ded. & Coins. | No Copay acter Ded | Ded. & Cours. | \$20 capan | Ded & Coins. | Sic copay | Ded. & Cons. |
| TOTAL TOTAL DISTRICT THE TOTAL STREET OF THE STREET TOTAL STREET TOTAL STREET | 20.2 | Deal of Contraction | No Copar acter Lieu i | Off & Cons. | 940 cours | Dad. & Coms. | S40 copar | Ded & Cons. |

Pais summary is unanded for use only as a general summary efforeign. For a destribed describition of denert, remus. Hustations and exclusions, see group certificates

- 65 -

2020-2022 Agreement Between the Town of Coventry and UPSEU/COPS Coventry Police Department Appendix D – Summary of Health Insurance Plans

ACLU of Connecticut

acluct.org